
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 10 June 2019. 
 01476 406080

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Tuesday, 18 June 2019 at 10.00 am
River Room, Jubilee life centre, 5 London Rd, Grantham 

NG31 6EY

Committee 
Members:

Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew (Chairman)
Councillor John Cottier (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor George Chivers, Councillor Phil Dilks, Councillor 
Gloria Johnson and Councillor Mrs Judy Smith

Invited 
Cabinet 
Members

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operational

Agenda
1.  Comments from Members of the public

To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 
discretion.

2.  Membership
The committee to be notified of any substitute members.

3.  Apologies

4.  Disclosure of Interests
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.

Environment 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


5.  Action Notes from the meeting held on 12 March 2019 and Updates from 
previous meeting

(Pages 3 - 8)

6.  Resources and Waste Strategy Consultations
Report from the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operational.

(Pages 9 - 87)

7.  Food Waste Trial
Update to be given by the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operational.

8.  Approach to Climate Change
A short presentation followed by Committee discussion.

9.  Consideration of Work Programme

10.  Future meeting venues
Proposed meeting venue for November Bourne Corn Exchange.

11.  Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent



Meeting of the
Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday, 12 March 2019, 10.30 am

Committee Members present

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Michael Cook
Councillor Mike Exton (Chairman)

Councillor Breda Griffin
Councillor Bob Russell
Councillor Brian Sumner

Officers

Stategic Director Commercial and Operations (Gary Smith)
Assistant Director Commercial and Operational (Ian Yates)
Assistant Director Resources (Richard Wyles)
Corporate Operations Lead (Paul Stokes)
Democratic Officer (Lucy Bonshor)

40. Membership

The Committee were notified that Councillor Griffin was substituting for 
Councillor Trollope-Bellew and Councillor Cook was substituting for Councillor 
Craft.

41. Apologies

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Wilkins and the Cabinet 
Member for Environment, Councillor Dr Moseley.

42. Disclosure of Interests

None disclosed.

43. Action Notes from the meeting held on 22 January 2019

The action notes from the meeting held on 22 January 2019 were noted.

3

Agenda Item 5



44. Updates from the previous meeting

One Member queried why a decision with regard to street lighting had not 
been taken by Cabinet last week following the decision that had been made 
by the Committee.  The delay had been due to the lack of financial information 
which was complex. The issue was on the agenda for the Committee to 
discuss that day. 

45. Environment SK and Grounds Maintenance

The Assistant Director Commercial and Operational gave the Committee an 
update in relation to the grounds maintenance contract and the new 
Environment SK Company.  The Company had become operational on 1 
March 2019.  A secure building and site had been leased off Swingbridge 
Road, Grantham which had excellent links with the A1.  Nearly all employees 
from Glendale had TUPE transferred across to the new Environment SK 
Company and arrangements such as inductions and health and safety 
briefings had been carried out.  Equipment included vans and a number of 
cutting machines. Two extra vans had been hired until the new vehicles were 
ready.  Due to the warm February some grass cutting had already taken 
place.  It was stressed that as it was a completely new organisation that had 
been set up, it was early days and everyone was on a “learning curve”, 
operationally everything was in place.  

Members congratulated the officers for the hard work that had been 
undertaken to get everything done within such a short timescale.

A Member asked about the flexibility within the contract and gave an example 
when work had been carried out by the previous contractor outside of the 
contract in relation to an event at Dysart Park, Grantham. Another example 
given ws the annual festival at Stamford. The Assistant Director Commercial 
and Operational stated that having flexibility was one of the reasons that the 
Company had been set up.  It was explained that any quality issues or 
requested service adjustments should be notified to Lynne Lord.

Further discussion followed in connection with tenders and Parish Councils.  A 
question was asked about the number of contracts that EnvironmentSK had 
won from Parishes.  Prices had been given to as many organisations as 
possible including parishes and private businesses.  To date five Parishes had 
contracts with EnvironmentSK.   In providing prices for works, the square 
footage of the site was needed, in some cases this information was not readily 
to hand, but where possible officers had gone out to measure sites up to 
enable a quote to be given.

Further discussion followed in relation to ownership and responsibilities for 
maintenance of “pieces of grass”.    The Grounds Maintenance Supervisor 
would be able to help with identifying ownership of land, although this was 
complicated. It was noted that LCC was the responsible body for grass verges 

4



along the highway.  It was suggested that a visit to the EnvironmentSK depot 
may be something that the new Committee may wish to undertake after the 
May elections.

46. National Waste Strategy - Upcoming consultations

The Assistant Director Commercial and Operational referred to the Key 
Milestones slide which was reproduced in the agenda pack which looked at 
forthcoming consultations in relation to the Resources and Waste Strategy.  
Currently consultations had been released on four main areas and they were:

 Reform of the extended producer responsibility scheme – this looked at 
manufacturers and businesses in relation to packaging and regulations 
around this, how businesses paid for the environmental impact of their 
products.

 The potential to deliver greater consistency of waste recycling – this 
linked with what was contained in the Lincolnshire Waste Management 
Strategy looking at consistency in waste recycling collection across 
Lincolnshire 

 Deposit  Return Schemes – how a scheme would work
 Plastic packaging tax - the volume of plastic packaging was huge.

The consultations documents ranged in size and officers had not yet had the 
chance to look at them in great detail.  Unfortunately the timing was not great, 
the consultations concluded on 13 May 2019.  It was suggested that priority 
be given to the consultations in relation to the consistency of waste recycling.  
Each consultation consisted of on-line surveys with a number of questions.  
The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership would also be collating a responses to the 
consultations and this would be tracked to help inform feedback from the 
individual District Councils.   Due to the timeframes it was suggested that the 
documents be looked at by Officers who would feedback to Members through 
e-mail. Responses required appeared to be at a high level and officers would 
be able to help inform the responses having regard to the Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership responses.  Members felt that the timing of the consultations was 
bad, but that officers would be best placed to respond to the consultations, 
circulating responses to Members to keep them informed.     Members agreed 
that the priority consultations should be the ones relating to the consistency of 
waste recycling.

 Action note
 
That Officers respond to the consultations, priority to be given to the 
consistency of waste recycling, responses to be circulated to Members 
of the Committee.

5



47. Textile Collection

The Chairman changed the order of the Committee to enable the Street 
lighting item to be dealt with last on the agenda.

Textile collections had been asked to be put on the agenda by Councillor 
Baxter.  He asked why the Council did not have textile collection banks on 
Council car parks.  He informed the Committee that he had been in 
consultation with the Salvation Army about having a textile bank situated in 
Market Deeping.  The Salvation Army would deliver, manage and maintain the 
bank at no cost.   The contents were sorted and either sent to third world 
countries or re sold. He could not see why the Council did not have banks on 
their car parks.   The Chairman suggested that textile banks be put on the 
work programme.  The Member felt that it was something that could be trialled 
now, for a quick recycling gain.  The Assistant Director Commercial and 
Operational indicated that possible sites could be considered now.  Mention 
was made of two sites in Grantham at two of the large supermarkets but both 
had dedicated areas for cars to drop clothes off.   The Member felt that putting 
the issue on the work programme was a waste of time and he was 
disappointed that a decision could not be made sooner.  It was felt that more 
detail was needed on what car park sites could be used (inc considering 
safety) and it was agreed that the item be included on the work programme for 
the Committee to look at in the future and that further research on sites was 
required on being put to the vote this was agreed.

Action note

That textile banks be included on the future work programme – research 
on possible sites was required.    

48. Prospective Work Programme

Members noted the content of the future work programme with the addition of 
textile banks/recycling. One Member stated that he had asked for cycling and 
biodiversity as items for the work programme, neither item had been 
discussed by the Committee.

49. Street Lighting

A vote was taken on whether the press and public should be excluded during 
the discussion of the following item due to the commercial sensitivity 
contained within the presentation.  On being put to the vote the exclusion of 
the press and public was agreed however, Councillor Baxter wished that his 
vote against the exclusion be recorded.

It was anticipated that, in accordance with Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended) the public may be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following item of business because of the 

6



likelihood that otherwise exempt information, as described in paragraph 3 of 
the Act (as amended) would be disclosed to the public.

The Strategic Director Commercial and Operations referred to the slides that 
had been circulated for Members information and the reason that the 
exclusion had been read out due to the commercial sensitivity of information 
contained in some of the slides which could affect future procurement.  

The context and background of the street lighting issue was contained within 
the first few slides and the recommendations made by the Committee and the 
response from Cabinet.  The slides showed the current arrangements both for 
the General Fund contract and also the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
arrangements which had not been included previously but related to circa 300 
lights and how many of the total number of lights had been replaced to date 
with LED lights which totalled 110.  Repairs and maintenance of lights under 
the HRA had been undertaken on an ad hoc basis.  The GF replacement was 
on a three year cycle currently on a rolling contract.   A key slide showed 
options for LED Replacement over a number of years.  The slide was not 
comprehensive and was there to give Members an idea of the different levels 
of investment and the timescales.   Funding options were discussed both 
recurring and one off funding such as Invest to Save funding. Other 
considerations including conservation style lights and suitability of columns 
and brackets were also included.   Dimming of lights and automatic fault 
reporting had not been included within the cost model options.  The HRA 
lights had not been included in the cost modelling as they came from a 
different financial source however, plans would be made for HRA street lights 
to take advantage of the arrangements (and financial rates) put in place for 
GF lights. 

The Committees preferred option would be taken forward to the Cabinet 
Member for Environment for him to consider how the issue would be taken 
forward.

The Assistant Director Resources indicated that the options showed were 
modelling examples and it was for the Committee to decide their preferred 
level of investment. He informed the Committee to have regard to the working 
assumptions that had been made in making the projections which could be 
subject to change i.e. utility prices and the costs of the LED bulbs could 
increase.    The models assumed continued investment replacement over 
future years but this was only an assumption as Council can only approve a 
budget for the year ahead.  
A question was asked about the current provider to which the Strategic 
Director Commercial and Operations replied.  A question was asked about 
street lights generally and it was stated that the majority of street lights were 
the responsibility of Lincolnshire County Council, although there were privately 
owned ones such as those on railway stations and private retail units.    The 
location of the District Council lights were sporadic throughout the district 
although the main ones were on footways, cycle ways in parks and car parks.

7



Reference was again made to the commercial sensitivity of the information 
before Members which the modelling assumptions had been based on.   If the 
proposal was to go forward the contract would go out for procurement, it 
would be inappropriate for the prices shown within the presentation to become 
public knowledge as it would prejudice the current contractor and could 
negatively impact the market submissions.  Further discussion followed on the 
costs of the lamps and market testing.

Reference was made to Salix funding but it had been determined that the 
payback period of five years did not bring any benefits. Option 5 as shown in 
the presentation was proposed.  A comment was made about costs and a 
different provider.  The Assistant Director Resources assured the Committee 
that the assumptions made in relation to the options before Members were 
current.  At the time the market is tested the rates may go lower but the rates 
used were up to date. The issue was to “pump prime” a replacement 
programme but it was for the Committee to decide their preference.  More 
money spent would result in a quicker return over a shorter period of time, the 
less money spent would result in a longer period of time.  

The Chairman proposed option 3 as the way forward, the Member who had 
previously proposed option 5 did so again but did not receive a seconder. 
Option 3 did receive a seconder and on being put to the vote there was an 
equality of votes for option 3 and votes against option 3 with two abstentions.  
The Chairman used his casting vote in favour of option 3.

Recommendation:

That option 3 is the Committees preferred option to be taken forward by 
the Cabinet Member for the Environment.

50. Close of meeting

The meeting closed at 12:20pm. 

The Chairman thanked everyone for their attendance.

8



Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee
18 June 2019 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operational

        

Resources and Waste Strategy Consultations
For the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee to consider the recent consultations relating 
to the Government’s Resources and Waste Strategy for England and receive an overview of the 
response.

Report Author

Ian Yates, Assistant Director, Commercial and Operations

 01476 406201

 i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Competitiveness Regulatory All Wards

Reviewed by: Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Environmental 29 May 2019

Approved by: Gary Smith, Corporate Director, Commercial and 
Operations 31 May 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations 3 June 2019

Recommendation to the decision makers

1. It is recommended that the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee note 
the responses to the first round of consultations relating to the Government’s 
Resources and Waste Strategy.

9

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 The Background to the Report
1.1 In December 2018 the Government published its Resources and Waste Strategy for 

England. This wide ranging and comprehensive review sets out the Government’s ambitions 
to leave the environment in a better condition for the next generation.  This will require 
changes in how we produce and consume products and materials, as well as how we treat 
and dispose of them at end-of-life.  The topics covered in the strategy include:

 Promoting a circular economy

 Recovering resources and managing waste

 Better quantity and quality in recycling

 Consistent dry recycling collections

 Separate food waste collections

 Better partnership working between councils

 Amending the recycling credit system

 Reviewing Household Waste Recycling Centre provision

 Need for new treatment facilities

 Research and innovation

 Support for innovation
1.2 The Government has committed to undertake consultations on many of the key elements 

over the next year.  The proposed timescale and key milestones are detailed at Appendix 
1. 

1.3 The most recent consultations which closed on the 13th May were:

 Reforming the packaging producer responsibility regulations

 Measures to accelerate consistency in recycling for householders and businesses

 Introducing a deposit return scheme for drinks containers

 Tax on plastic packaging
1.4 The consultations were targeted at different sectors as there are potential impacts for all 

organisations and residents.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received
2.1 In a two-tier arrangement such as Lincolnshire, the Districts are the waste “collection” 

authorities and the County Council are the “disposal” authority. As a result, close working 
arrangements are required.  To support this, the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) 
brings together representatives from each Authority to determine the joint working plans. 

2.2 Last year all partners endorsed a new Lincolnshire Joint Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy. This sets out the 10 key objectives that the partnership plans to focus upon. In 
respect of the Government consultations, the LWP agreed to submit a joint response. 

2.3 Discussion focused on the consultation areas which directly affected the partnership 
organisations; the standardisation of recyclable materials; the provision of weekly separate 
food waste collections and the provision of free garden waste collections. 

10



2.4 The proposals in terms of the funding to support Authorities with any additional financial 
burdens associated with the proposals were welcomed. In respect of mandatory food waste 
collections, SK agreed that the collection frequency should be a minimum of weekly and 
made separately i.e. not mixed with other waste streams.  In addition, the provision of food 
waste caddie liners was supported by SK as direct experience resulting from the food waste 
trial showed that this improves participation.  The proposal to standardise the items that can 
be recycled was also supported.  The LWP response to the consultation is at Appendix 2.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 Partners could submit their own individual responses to the consultations.  

4 Preferred Option
4.1 As can be the case, some questions were interpreted differently by different partners.  Any 

specific variations in responses will be detailed during the meeting.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 Due to the timing of these consultations it was not possible to bring the draft response before 

the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee before the Government’s deadline.

5.2 It is anticipated that where timescales allow, future consultation responses will be 
considered by the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee prior to submission. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee will receive further Government 

consultations and be appraised of any responses from Government and their implications. 

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 The consultation itself does not have any financial implications, however, the impending 

Government response may result in new legislation which may have financial future 
impacts.   These impacts will need to be considered as appropriate.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Debbie Muddimer, Section 151 Officer

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The Council is not required to respond to Government consultations. However, they provide 

an opportunity for Members to influence future Government policy and legislation.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Head of Legal

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 None identified

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 No direct risks have been identified as a result of responding to the consultation.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 None identified

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None identified

11



13 Background Papers
13.1 Resources and waste strategy for England

13.2 Joint Municipal Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix 1 – Consultation Timetable and Key Milestones

14.2 Appendix 2 – LWP consultation response (due to the size of the document it is only 
available electronically)

12

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-for-england
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycling-and-waste/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/37756.article


APPENDIX 1

13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1  

Consultation on consistency in household and 

business recycling collections in England 
 

About you 
1. What is your name?  Councillor EJ Poll  

 
2. What is your email address? wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

This is optional, but if you enter your email address then you will be able to return to edit 
your consultation at any time until you submit it. You will also receive an acknowledgement 
email when you complete the consultation. 

3. Which best describes you? 

Please tick only one option. If multiple categories apply to you please choose the one which 
best describes you and which you are representing in your response. (Required) 

                Local Authority 
 Waste management company 
 Business representative organisation/trade body 
 Product designer 
 Manufacturer 
 Distributor 
 Retailer 
 Reprocessor 
 Community group 
 Charity or social enterprise 
 Independent consultancy 
 Academic or researcher 
 Individual 
 Other (please provide details …) 

 

4. If you are responding on behalf of an organisation, what is its name? Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership 

 

5. Would you like your response to be confidential? 

No 

If you answered ‘Yes’ above, please give your reason: 

15



2  

Part 1 Measures to improve the quantity and 
quality of household recycling collected by 
local authorities 

 
 

Consultation questions on dry recycling 
 

Proposal 1 – We propose that all local authorities in England should be 
required to collect a core set of dry recyclable materials at kerbside from 

houses and flats.  

Q5 Setting aside the details of how it would be achieved, do you agree or disagree with 
the proposal that local authorities should be required to collect a set of core materials for 
recycling? 

              Agree – local authorities should be required, to collect a core set of materials 
 Disagree – local authorities should not be required, to collect a core set of materials 
 Not sure/don’t have an opinion 

Q6 We think it should be possible for all local authorities to collect the core set of 
materials. Do you agree with this? 

             Agree 
 Disagree – If you disagree please provide further information and evidence as to 

what circumstances it is not practicable to collect the full set of materials 

 

Q7 What special considerations or challenges might local authorities face in 
implementing this requirement for existing flats and houses in multiple occupancy? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

There is evidence that recycling performance in flats is lower than with kerbside 
collections and in order to address this, many authorities with a high proportion of flats 
have needed to introduce specific schemes and programmes to increase performance. 

One example of this is the £5 million Flats Recycling Programme introduced by LWARB in 
2010. Therefore in order to introduce a mandatory core set of recyclable materials for flats 

and HMOs, it is clearly evidenced that additional funding and support would need to be 
provided to Local Authorities. This will allow LAs to work to deliver the requirement for a 
core set of materials by the implementation of successfully evidenced programmes rather 

than to simply pay lip service to the notion which would fail to increase the recycling rates.  
The implementation in new and purpose built flats, where consideration can be given to 
storage of containers, will also increase the ability to successfully introduce a core set of 

materials. 
Challenges that the partnership have identified include; 

 Lack of physical space for containers for separate materials, both inside flats and in 
communal areas 

 High contamination levels in communal bins 

 More resources may be required to monitor these. Consideration as to whether there can 
be use of HMO Licence conditions for enforcement 

 Better enforcement powers required for communal areas  

 Where flats are above business spaces – special consideration will be required as there 
will be commercial and domestic bins will be in use  

16



3  

Q8 What other special considerations should be given to how this proposal could apply 
to flats? Please provide additional information on your answer. 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Q9 Do you have any other comments to make about Proposal 1? Please use this space 
to briefly explain your responses to questions above, e.g. why you agree/disagree with 
proposals. 

 
 

  Whilst the partnership agrees that in principle the idea of a core set of material is a good 

idea and meets some of our own strategy objectives, we are clear that there are some 
key areas that need consideration in order to make this option viable. These include; 

 Whether there should be any exceptions, where the implementation of the core set would 
be unworkable; such as where space for containers is unavailable 

 Whether kerbside is always the best option, can the offer of bring banks still allow LAs to 
meet the requirement to collect core materials  

 Suitable infrastructure would need to be in place to ensure that all materials that are 
collected are able to be recycled 

 Suitable funding support would be required for LAs to introduce this to all types of 
properties  

 Whether separate recycling performance rates should be reported for flats and HMO 
compared to kerbside collections 

 Consistency, wherever possible, will help to reduce confusion for the public and support 
the required infrastructure to recycle materials collected 

 Enforcement powers must be available to ensure that there are powers available to enact 
where residents are not adhering to the requirements 

 Funding for education/communications support will be essential 

Whilst the partnership agrees that in principle the idea of a core set of material is a good 

idea and meets some of our own strategy objectives, we are clear that there are some key 
areas that need consideration in order to make this option viable. These include; 

 Whether there should be any exceptions, where the implementation of the core set would 
be unworkable; such as where space for containers is unavailable 

 Whether kerbside is always the best option, can the offer of bring banks still allow LAs to 
meet the requirement to collect core materials  

 Suitable infrastructure would need to be in place to ensure that all materials that are 
collected are able to be recycled 

 Suitable funding support would be required for LAs to introduce this to all types of 
properties  

 Whether separate recycling performance rates should be reported for flats and HMO 
compared to kerbside collections 

 
Challenges that the partnership have identified include; 

 Lack of physical space for containers for separate materials, both inside flats and in 
communal areas 

 High contamination levels in communal bins 

 More resources may be required to monitor these. Consideration as to whether there can 
be use of HMO Licence conditions for enforcement 

 Better enforcement powers required for communal areas  

 Where flats are above business spaces – special consideration will be required as there 
will be commercial and domestic bins will be in use  

17



4  

Proposal 2 – We propose that the core set of materials will be glass bottles 

and containers, paper and card, plastic bottles, plastic pots tubs and trays, 
and steel and aluminium tins and cans. 

Q10 Do you believe that all of these core materials should be included or any excluded? 
 

 
This should be 
included in the core 
set 

This should be 
excluded from the 
core set 

Not sure/don’t have 
an opinion/not 
applicable 

Glass bottles and 

containers 

  

Paper and card   

Plastic bottles   

Plastic pots tubs and 

trays 

  

Steel and aluminium 

tins and cans 

  

 
 

Q11 What, if any, other products or materials do you believe should be included in the 
core set that all local authorities will be required to collect? 

 

 
This should be This should be This should be Not sure/don’t 

included in the included from excluded have an 
core set from the core set but from the core opinion/not 
the start of phased in over set applicable 

Consistency time   

Food and drinks 
cartons 

   

Plastic bags and 

film 

   

Other materials 
(please specify) 

 Textiles   

 

Q12 If you think any of these or other items should or should not be included in the core 
set immediately please use the box below to briefly explain your view. 

 
 

The requirement to collect materials must be supported by the sufficient infrastructure and 

markets to recycle them. This is especially the case for plastic pots tubs and trays which 
should only be included if it can be demonstrated that the materials they are made from: a) are 
simple to sort at MRF; and b) have a recycling market. They must also be supported by 

ongoing communication and education so that the public are confident in what can be 
recycled. 
 

18



5  

Q13 If you think these or other items should be considered for inclusion at a later stage, 
what changes would be needed to support their inclusion? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Q14 Do you have any other comments to make about Proposal 2? 
 
 

 

 

Proposal 3 – We propose that this core set of materials should be regularly 
reviewed by government and, if appropriate, expanded over time provided 
that a) evidence supports the benefits, b) there are viable processing 
technologies for proposed materials, c) there are sustainable end markets, 
d) local authorities would not be adversely affected, including financially. 

Q15 Do you agree that the core set should be regularly reviewed and, provided certain 
conditions are met, expanded? 

                    Yes 
 No 
 Not sure/don’t have an opinion 

As the partnership have already highlighted, the requirement to collect materials must be 

supported by the sufficient infrastructure and markets to recycle them. It is also noted that 
without public pressure to create a market, many items can be incinerated or sent to landfill 
where a market could otherwise be created. An example of this is the recent pressure for crisp 

packets to be recycled. This is also a good example of where public confusion is created when 
media promote that there is a market for recycling and materials are assumed suitable for their 
home recycling collections where only specialised recycling collections are available. 

Therefore the partnership would like to see a phasing in of materials to the core set, once 
there is a suitable market for them, together with the appropriate communications messages 
locally and nationally to reduce confusion and ensure high engagement. 

Alongside a market and infrastructure requirement, the need for suitable resource and 
financing requirements for LA’s must be provided in order to collect additional materials. 
 

In some areas where a market already exists but addition of a material to the core set is done 
to capture the materials that are lost to incineration or landfill, it will be imperative to ensure 

that communication and education are forefront in providing the public with the information as 
to what is required and why, as well as considering the impact on existing collections. In 
particular this refers to textiles where the Environmental Audit Committee has worked on the 

sustainability of the fashion industry and the amount of textiles that are needlessly incinerated 
or sent to landfill where markets already exist. However, introducing these to the core set of 
materials may increase recycling, where ease of disposal in home collections are able to 

remove this material from refuse collections, alongside education of why it is important to do 
so. However, the impact to charities of introducing it as a core collection material would need 
to be considered alongside the environmental impacts of removing textiles from incineration 

and landfill. Similarly, with the collection of core materials, consideration should be given as to 
whether kerbside is always the most appropriate method of collection and whether bring 
banks, such as those for textiles, should continue to be the main method of collection in 

certain circumstances. 
 
The decision to add extra material should only be done if there is a thorough review in line 

with proposal 3. 

It is essential that the requirement to collect materials must be supported by the sufficient 
infrastructure and markets to recycle them. They must also be supported by ongoing 

communication and education so that the public are confident in what can be recycled.  

19



6  

Q16 Do you believe that the proposed conditions a) b) c) and d) above are needed in 
order to add a core material? 

                    Yes – but I would also add some (please specify which conditions you believe 
should be added …) 

 No – some/all should be removed (if some please specify below) 
 No – some should be added and some should be removed (please specify 

which …) 
 Not sure/don’t have an opinion 

Q17 Do you have any other comments to make about Proposal 3? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Consultation questions on separate food waste 
collection 

 
Proposal 4 – By 2023 we propose to legislate for local authorities to provide 
all kerbside properties and flats with access to at least a weekly separate 
collection service for food waste, including provision of containers and 
liners. 

Q18 Which aspects of the proposal do you agree and disagree with? 
 

 
Agree Disagree Not sure/don’t have 

an opinion/not 
applicable 

(i) at least a weekly collection of food 

waste 

  

(ii) a separate collection of food waste 

(i.e. not mixed with garden waste) 

  

(iii) services to be changed only as and 
when contracts allow 

  

(iv) providing free caddy liners to 

householders for food waste 
collections 

  

 
  

 "Review" should also mean that items might be removed from the list sometimes if 

they no longer meet the defined criteria. 

 Review should not be too often as this causes confusion for householders. 

 Condition d) needs to include consideration of impacts on bin/vehicle/service capacity 

of changes in recycling mix. 

 Consideration needs to be given to length of lead in times for LA’s and the cost 

impacts 

 Communication and education are fundamental to any changes  

 Adequate resource must be made available for the above 

20



7  

Q19 Are there circumstances where it would not be practical to provide a separate food 
waste collection to kerbside properties or flats. 

 

                     Yes (if yes please provided further details below) 
 No 
 Not sure/don’t have an opinion 

 

Q20 Do you have any other comments to make about Proposal 4 including on 
circumstances where it may not be practical to provide a separate food waste collection? 
The partnership disagrees with the proposal, as it stands in full, to legislate for local authorities to 

provide all kerbside properties and flats with access to at least a weekly separate collection 
service for food waste, including provision of containers and liners. 
We wish to clarify, however, that: 

 We agree in principle with the idea of food waste collections 

 We agree that some of the proposed details (see Q18) are reasonable for most properties 
(e.g. weekly, separate) 

 We disagree, however, that those details are right for all authorities/properties. 

 We therefore cannot agree that those details should be made mandatory for "all kerbside 

properties and flats". 
There are a number of reasons for this including; 

 The requirement to provide the service to all properties does not take into account for 

properties that are fundamentally difficult to collect food waste from such as flats and HMOs. 

These properties have little storage area for caddies and food bins internally and externally 
and are evidenced as having poor participation. 

 The rural nature of properties in Lincolnshire means that weekly food waste collections could 

be environmentally and economically unviable  

 Mixed collections (with garden waste) may be the best way to make food collections work in 

some areas/situations, particularly in very rural communities, although some of our partners 

would disagree with that 

 Tourist locations are unsuitable for caddies to be on street for large part of day and during 

peak times additional collection vehicles will add to already busy roads 

 Local Authorities should be given the opportunity to choose areas and/or property types 

suitable for weekly food waste collections based on the above considerations, it should not be 

a mandate for all properties  

 If food waste collections are to be introduced, then liners may well be a key requirement to 

maximise the take-up and environmental benefits.  However, whilst evidence shows that liners 
can increase participation, they should not be mandatory.  This should be left to each local 

authority to decide because: 
o Some "biodegradable" liners are not compostable and are shown to contain micro 

plastics that can find their way into water streams.  Caddie liners would need to be 

manufactured to the correct environmentally friendly specification. 
o Some bio plants remove liners before their main process, so universal provision of 

them would be adding to waste streams. 

o Some partners have expressed concern that liners are costly and could be difficult to 
provide to households. 

o Once you have given liners, removal of them would be difficult, whereas commencing 

a scheme without them would create a norm for users. 
o Where liners are not used, the communication and education that would need to go 

with the introduction of a food waste scheme should include the environmental reasons 

as to why liners are not being used. 
 

 

  

21



8  

Proposal 5 – We will provide funding and support to local authorities to help 
put in place the necessary collections infrastructure. 

Q21 If you are responding on behalf of a local authority, what kind of support would be 
helpful to support food waste collection? (tick as many as apply) 

 I am not responding on behalf of a local authority 
 Specific financial support (please specify) 

                      Procurement support, (e.g. free advice on renegotiating contracts; centralised 
purchasing of containers) 
                      Communications support, (e.g. free collateral that can be adapted and used 
locally) 
                       Technical support, (e.g. free advice from a consultant about round re-profiling) 

 Other (please specify …) 

 
Q22 Do you have any other comments to make about Proposal 5? 
 
 

 

Proposal 6 – We believe it would be desirable for local authorities that have 
contractual commitments with IVC facilities, which needs mixed garden and 
food waste, to require separate presentation of food waste but then be able 
to mix it with garden waste for treatment purposes. This is because our 

evidence shows that separate presentation of food waste leads to higher 
yields. 

Q23 What are your views on this proposal? 
 

   This could cause issues with the public who want transparency. Material they have 

separated should not be mixed afterwards as this could lead to trust issues over other 
material streams. 

 If this happens, there should be resources allocated to deliver a targeted and ongoing 

communications messages including a focus on where the waste ends up 

 Retaining comingling may be a cheaper collection option in some 

circumstances/areas, but that shouldn't be an issue provided government would fully 

fund separate collections 

 Impact on frequency of garden waste collection would need to be considered 

 Impact on the cost of caddies to unnecessarily separate waste as it is later mixed 

would need to be considered 

The partnership feels that any move towards introducing mandatory food waste collections 

must be done with full and fair funding for local authorities for collection, disposal and 
infrastructure (caddies and vehicles). The partnership recently commissioned work from 

WRAP regarding the impact of introducing food waste in the authorities of the partnership and 
this clearly showed that the financial impacts would be crippling. 
 

WRAP evidence also confirms that the success of any food waste trial is reliant upon ongoing 
communication and education. Without this, participation falters and schemes become 
unworkable. Ongoing funding for this would be critical. The partnership feels that national 

campaigns could work to increase the success of food waste schemes including the message 
of minimisation. 

22



9  

Consultation questions on collecting garden waste 
 

Proposal 7 – We are seeking views on whether households generating 

garden waste should be provided with access to a free collection service. If 
introduced this this would be a minimum fortnightly collection service of a 

240-litre capacity container (either bin or sack). Local authorities may 
provide additional capacity or more frequent services and would be able to 
charge for this additional provision 

Q24 Which aspects of the proposal do you agree or disagree with? 
 

 
Agree Disagree Not sure/don’t have 

an opinion/not 

applicable 

(i) a free garden waste collection 

for all households with 
gardens 

  

(ii) A capacity to 240l (bin or 

other container eg sack) 

  

(iii) A fortnightly collection 

frequency (available at least 
through the growing season) 

  

(iv) ability to charge households 
for additional 

capacity/collections/containers 
over the set minimum capacity 

requirement 

  

(v) this new requirement to start 
from 2023 (subject to funding 

and waste contracts) 

  

 

Q25 Do you have any other comments to make about Proposal 7? 
The partnership does not agree with the proposal to introduce free fortnightly garden waste collections to 
household’s producing garden waste. The reasons for this include; 

 This proposal goes against the producer pays principle.  Why should those without a garden pay for 
others who do (via council tax)? 

 This proposal goes against waste hierarchy principles as charging promotes minimisation & home 

composting.  

 This proposal encourages regular collection of part-filled bins and increases the amount of vehicles 

travelling the country and therefore carbon impact. 
Consideration should be given to; 

 What will be classed as a garden?  Why issue a bin to people with a small yard, will garden boxes be 

eligible? Cannot provide this to everyone who wants one – reasonableness needs to be considered. 

 Should charge for disposal be considered? 

 Does an opt-in service (and thus charged) support waste hierarchy and environmentally friendly 

objectives?  

 How it might work in areas where comingling with food waste is the best value option?  

 Whether there is sufficient national AD capacity to deliver both food and garden waste mandates. 

23



10  

 
Consultation questions on separate collection to 
improve quality 

 
Proposal 8 – In addition to the new core set of materials that we will require 
to be collected, we want to promote separate collection of materials where 
this is feasible and can help to improve quality. We propose to amend the 
law to clarify this and will include guidance in our proposed statutory 

guidance on minimum service standards to help local authorities and waste 
operators in decision making on separate collection. 

Q26 Do you agree the proposed approach to arrangements for separate collection of dry 
materials for recycling to ensure quality? 

 Yes 
 No (why …?) 
 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

 
 

Q27 What circumstances may prevent separate collection of paper, card, glass, metals 
and plastics? Please be as specific as possible and provide evidence. 
 

 
 

  

The partnership does not agree to the proposed statutory guidance on minimum service standards in 

regards to separate collections. This is because; 

 There are properties for which separate collections are not suitable, such as where there is not 
room for separate receptacles, tourist areas, terraced houses, flats and HMOs 

 The partnership has WRAP evidence that the introduction of separate collections is expensive  

 

Circumstances that may prevent separate collections include; 
 

 Inability to store multiple containers 

 Carbon impact of additional vehicles required for separate collections 

 Occupational health of crews collection heavy glass and/or paper receptacles 

 Additional increase in the duration of rounds 

 Impact of noise due to glass only collections (for residents and crew) 

 Public perception – having to do our work for us by sorting materials 

 Huge financial impact on authorities – evidence from wrap report 

 Clarity on what is plastic – label of materials (definitions would need to be clear). Labelling would 
need to be made very clear (as part of other consultations) 

 Logistics of storage and transportation of multiple waste stream and ensuring there are markets for 
these 

 The impact and role of "TEEP" 

 

24



11  

Q28 Do you have any other comments to make about Proposal 8? 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Consultation questions on bin colour standardisation 

 
Proposal 9 – Assuming that we progress with proposals for a core set of 

materials that must be collected for recycling, the government welcomes 
views on whether England should move to standardised waste container 
colours for those materials, together with residual waste, food and garden 
waste. 

Q29 Do you agree or disagree with this proposal? 

 Agree – bin colours should be standardised for all waste streams 

 Agree in part – bin colours should be standardised for some waste streams but 
not all (specify which …) 

 Disagree – bin colours should not be standardised for any waste streams 

 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 
 
Q30 There would be potential for significant costs from introducing standardised bins 
colours from a specific date. What views do you have on a phased approach or alternative 
ways to standardising the colours of containers for different materials? 

 Phased approach 1 – as and when waste contracts are renewed 
 Phased approach 2 – as and when old/unserviceable bins are replaced 
 Other ways please specify… 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

The following must be considered and financial impacts resolved before introducing separate collection 
requirements; 
 

 Inability to store multiple containers 

 Carbon impact of additional vehicles required for separate collections 

 Occupational health of crews collection heavy glass and/or paper receptacles 

 Additional increase in the duration of rounds 

 Impact of noise due to glass only collections (for residents and crew) 

 Public perception – having to do our work for us by sorting materials 

 Huge financial impact on authorities – evidence from wrap report 

 Clarity on what is plastic – label of materials (definitions would need to be clear). Labelling would 
need to be made very clear (as part of other consultations) 

 Logistics of storage and transportation of multiple waste stream and ensuring there are markets for 
these 

 The impact and role of "TEEP" 

 

The partnership cannot see a workable approach to overcome the expense and unnecessary 
confusion arising from the changeover. 

There would also be a huge environmental impact with the bins that are no longer required 

as they are the wrong colour as well as with manufacturing new ones. We would also 
question as to whether there is capacity to make new ones in UK?  
The partnership does wonder whether there should be some considering as to a national 

standard of bin (regardless of colour). 

25



12  

Q31 Do you have any other comments to make about Proposal 9? 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Consultation questions on service standards 

 
Proposal 10 – We are proposing to prepare statutory guidance on minimum 
service standards to which local authorities will be required to have regard. 
The detail of this guidance will be consulted upon in our second 
consultation 

Q32 Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to publish statutory guidance? 

 Agree – government should publish statutory guidance 
  Disagree – government should not publish statutory guidance 

 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

Q33 We propose reviewing the guidance every few years, revising it as required and then 
allowing sufficient lead-in time to accommodate the changes. Do you agree or disagree with 
this timescale? 

 Agree 
 Disagree – it should be more often 
 Disagree – it should be less often 

  Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

Q34 Subject to further analysis and consultation we propose to use the guidance to set a 
minimum service standard for residual waste collection of at least every alternative week Do 
you agree or disagree with this proposal? 

 Agree 
 Disagree – it should be more often 
 Disagree – it should be less often 

                    Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

 

Q35 Do you have any other comments to make about Proposal 10? 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

The partnership does not agree that statutory guidance on minimum service standards to which local 
authorities will be required to have regard should be introduced. This is because 

 It takes away from the idea of localism and councils being able to do what is best for their residents  

 Any fixed residual frequency flies in the face of working hard to minimise it, and could mean 

collecting from near-empty bins. 

 Changes to guidance should only be made where there is a clear reason for it.  Any change could 

incur significant expense and could cause confusion for the public. 

 If there is guidance, there must be a clear commitment to fund any changes resulting from it.  In 

order to avoid penalising early-adopters, there should also be funding to support services which 
already exceed an agreed baseline. 

If introduced, service standards need to complement the waste hierarchy. 

The partnership feels that whilst consistency would be nice in an ideal world, we cannot see 

a workable approach to overcome the expense and unnecessary confusion arising from the 

changeover. It is thought that it may not work as some authorities will collect separately and 
others mixed as not "feasible" or needed to "improve quality" (see proposal 8) therefore 
there would be no way to standardise colours for bins that collect mixed waste. 

The confusion that would arise from the changes would likely make it more difficult for 

residents than it currently is.  
Would it be more prudent to focus on more innovative ideas (i.e. underground bins) 

 
 

 

26



13  

 

 

Consultation questions on communicating about 
recycling 

 
Proposal 11 – We will continue our support for Recycle Now and the tools 
produced by WRAP to help local authorities to communicate effectively on 
recycling. 

Q36 Do you have any comments to make about Proposal 11? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Q37 What information do householders and members of the public need to help them 
recycle better? 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Proposal 12 – We will work with local authorities and others to improve 
transparency of information available to householders on the end 

destination for household recycling. 

Q38 Do you agree or disagree with this proposal? 

                     Agree – government should work with local authorities and other stakeholders 
on this 

 Disagree – government should not work with local authorities and other 

stakeholders on this 
 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

 

Q39 Do you have any other comments to make about Proposal 12? 

 

 

 
 
 
 

The partnership does agree based on the following;  

 Agree provided the plan is genuinely to "work with local authorities" rather than simply 

imposing an additional duty. 

 Is this information not already provided by local authorities and available via 

Wastedataflow? 

 Link the information through to demonstrate that producers are meeting their 

responsibilities. 

 Working with other stakeholders, businesses and EA to make system work 

 Adequate resources are provided 

The partnership agrees that moving towards consistent services makes national 
campaigns more effective and that campaigns should be national and local to get 
public engagement and should be ongoing and funded. 

 Make them care – e.g. the impact of not recycling (Blue Planet) 

 What they need to do to avoid those consequences 

 Communications need to include an element of myth-busting to help to restore public faith in councils' 
motivation for their actions – e.g. councils are not just out to make money out of recycling 

 Focus on waste minimisation and re-use 

 Make packaging clearer 

 Clear and consistent understanding of where and why it’s not working i.e. research, key messages 

 Support charities – other options out there (i.e. textiles, books etc) 

27



14  

Consultation questions on end markets 
 

Proposal 13 – (No specific proposal text) 

Q40 Please use this space to briefly explain any comments you have on the issues 
discussed in this section. 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Consultation questions on non-binding performance 
indicators 

 
Proposal 14 – We propose developing a set of non-binding performance 
indicators for local authorities to use to monitor waste management and 
recycling and to highlight where services can be improved to delivery higher 

recycling and minimise waste. In addition to the headline household 
recycling rate for the local authority we would propose 4 additional 

indicators covering the yields of dry recycling, food waste for recycling, 
garden waste for recycling, and residual waste. We would also work with 
local authorities to develop these and other indicators to reflect areas such 
as quality or contamination levels and service delivery. 

Q41 Do you agree or disagree that introducing non-binding performance indicators for 
waste management and recycling is a good idea? 

                     Agree 
 Disagree (why …?) 
 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

Q42 Do you agree or disagree that the proposed indicators are appropriate? 

 Agree 
  Disagree (please expand …) 
 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

Q43 Do you have any comments to make about Proposal 14 or examples of indicators 
currently in use that may be of assistance? 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

The proposed "yield" measures shouldn't have targets set because, as argued elsewhere 

in these consultation documents: 

 They are weight-based rather than looking at environmental benefits. 

 They could hinder the application of the Waste Hierarchy.  Recycling is good but 

reuse and minimisation are better 

 They could promote quantity over quality of material collected. 

 Difficult to measure/compare for opt-in services. 

However, measuring "yield" can be helpful as a contextual measure, so not appropriate to 
have a target. 

Targets can drive adverse behaviours, but consideration should be given to how the 

performance information will be used nationally as benchmarks. 

Developing a stronger UK market for recyclable materials is essential as it ties in with:  

 The proximity principle 

 Making the UK a circular economy 

 Producer responsibility 

28



15  

Consultation questions on alternatives to weight-based 
metrics 

 
Proposal 15 – We will look at metrics that can sit alongside weight-based 
metrics and will work with stakeholders to develop these as set out in the 

Resources and Waste Strategy. 

Q44 Do you agree that alternatives to weight-based metrics should be developed to 
understand recycling performance? 

                     Agree 
 Disagree (why …?) 
 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

Q45 Do you agree that these alternatives should sit alongside current weight-based 
metrics 

                    Agree 
 Disagree (why …?) 
 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

Q46 What environmental, economic or social metrics should we consider developing as 
alternatives to weight-based metrics? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Consultation questions on joint working 
 

Proposal 16 – We want to support and enable greater collaboration and 
partnership working between authorities where this would accelerate the 
move to consistent collections and improve recycling and delivery of 

services. 

Q47 Do you agree that greater partnership working between authorities could lead 
to improved waste management and higher levels of recycling? 

                     Agree 
 Disagree (why …?) 
 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

Q48 What are the key barriers to greater partnership working? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Carbon footprint – A tool to calculate this from readily-available local authority data 

would be helpful and ensure consistent methodology. 

 Customer satisfaction with services? 

 Value for money? – Contextual to collection and disposal methods 

 Differing organisational priorities 

 Budget pressures 

 Restrictions of existing contracts & service models  

 Differing socioeconomics of neighbouring authorities 

 Different issues in rural/urban areas 

29



16  

Q49 How might government help overcome these barriers? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Q50 Do you have any other comments to make about Proposal 16? 
 
 

 Drive towards consistency but ensuring legitimate local needs/differences are considered. 

 Find ways (financial rewards?) to promote a one-nation mentality providing services for all the 
public rather than just for each authority's residents. 

 Shared responsibility for providing the best environmental option, regardless of borders. 

 Provision of model documentation – terms of reference etc (two tier areas) 

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership agrees with the principle of greater collaboration and partnership 
working between authorities and has seen the benefits of this through its own partnership. However, 
the LWP would like to raise that any partnership must make note of the areas of differences between 
authorities and work to address these and ensure local requirements are always considered 
 
Support should be given to cross-boundary collection arrangements where this is the most 

practicable method of collection. 

30



17  

Part 2 Measures to improve recycling by 
businesses and other organisations that 
produce municipal waste 

 

Consultation questions on measures to increase 
recycling from business and other organisations that 
produce municipal waste 

 
Proposal 17 – We want to increase recycling from businesses and other 
organisations that produce municipal waste. We think the most effective way 
of doing this would be to legislate so that these establishments have to 
segregate their recyclable waste from residual waste so that it can be 
collected and recycled by waste operators. 

Q51 Do you agree or disagree that businesses, public bodies and other organisations that 
produce municipal waste should be required to separate dry recyclable material from 
residual waste so that it can be collected and recycled? 

                     Agree 
 Disagree (why …?) 

 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

Q52 Which of the 3 options do you favour? 

 Option 1 mixed dry recycling and separate glass recycling; no food waste 
collected for recycling 

 Option 2 mixed dry recycling and separate food recycling; no glass recycling 
 Option 3 mixed dry recycling, separate glass recycling, separate food recycling 
 Something else (please expand …) 
 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

Q53 We would expect businesses to be able to segregate waste for recycling in all 
circumstances but would be interested in views on where this may not be practicable for 
technical, environmental or economic reasons 

 Yes – it should be practicable to segregate waste for recycling in all 
circumstances 

  No – some exceptions are needed for particular circumstances (please provide 
examples below) 
 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

 
 
  

Exceptions should include small businesses, especially in certain locations where storage of 

waste receptacles are not possible 
 
NB – When we say 'small businesses' we do not mean the standard definition of SME (which 

accounts for the vast majority of businesses in Lincolnshire) but rather businesses which are 
genuinely small, possibly 'micro businesses'. 

31



18  

Q54 Should some businesses, public sector premises or other organisations be exempt 
from the requirement? 

                      Yes (which ones and why …?) 
 No 
 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

 

 

 

 

Q55 Do you have any other comments to make about Proposal 17? For example, do you 
think that there are alternatives to legislative measures that would be effective in increasing 
business recycling? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposal 18 – Where a business, public body or other organisation produces 
sufficient quantities of food waste we propose to legislate for this to be 

separated from residual waste and arrangements made for it to be collected 
and recycled. 

Q56 Do you agree or disagree that businesses, public bodies or other organisations that 
produce sufficient quantities of food waste should be required to separate i t from residual 
waste so that it can be collected and recycled? 

                     Agree 
 Disagree (why …?) 
 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

Q57 Do you agree or disagree that there should be a minimum threshold, by weight, for 
businesses public bodies or other organisations to be required to separate food waste for 
collection? 

              Agree 
 Disagree (why …?) 
 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

 
Q58 Do you have any views on how we should define ‘sufficient’ in terms of businesses 
producing ‘sufficient’ quantities of food waste to be deemed in scope of the regulations? 

 

 

Q59 Do you have any views on how we should define ‘food-producing’ businesses? 

Exemptions should include small businesses, especially in certain locations where storage of 
waste receptacles are not possible 
 

The partnership feels that whilst it's important not to negatively impact on small businesses, the 

legislation needs to include as many organisations as reasonably possible – e.g. charities & 
schools. 

Exceptions should be based on yield of waste rather than size of business – e.g. a café may 
have a lot of waste whilst consideration should be given to storage or multiple waste 

receptacles. 
There may need to be a review of definitions in controlled waste regulations – e.g. status of "air 

b&b" properties & caravans. 
 

32



19  

Q60 In addition to those businesses that produce below a threshold amount of food 
waste, should any other premises be exempt from the requirement? 

 Yes (which ones and why …?) 
 No 
 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

 

Q61 Do you have any other comments to make about proposal 18? 
 

 

 

 

Proposal 19 – If the proposals above are adopted, we would like to support 
businesses, public sector and other organisations to make the transition. In 
particular we would like to find ways to reduce the impact on small and 

micro businesses. 

 

Q62 What are your views on the options proposed to reduced costs? 

There should be no different equivalent burdens to that of householders. 

 
 

Q63 Are there other ways to reduce the cost burden that we have overlooked? 

 

Q64 Do you have any other views on how we can support businesses and other 
organisations to make the transition to improved recycling arrangements? 

 

Business waste data 
 

Proposal 20 – As part of implementing consistency, we will work with waste 
producers and waste collectors in the non-household municipal sectors to 
improve reporting and data capture on waste and recycling performance of 
businesses and other organisations. Any requirements will be subject to 
consultation. 

Q65 Do you have any views on whether businesses and other organisations should be 
required to report data on their waste recycling performance? 

                     Agree 
 Disagree (why …?) 
 Not sure/no opinion/not applicable 

 

Q66 Do you have any other comment on Proposal 20? 

 This is a large quantity of waste, making a significant contribution to overall municipal 
waste, and thus to the national target, so should be subject to the same reporting 
requirements as household waste. 

How would a minimum threshold be measured and enforced? Is it more practical and easier to 
enforce on all? 

33



This page is intentionally left blank



1  

Consultation on introducing a Deposit 
Return Scheme in England, Wales and 
Northern Ireland 

 

About you 

1. Would you like your response to be confidential? 

Yes / No 
If you answered ‘Yes’ above, please give your reason: 

2. What is your name? 
Councillor EJ Poll 

 

3. What is your email address? 
wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

This is optional, but if you enter your email address then you will be able to return 
to edit your consultation at any time until you submit it. You will also receive an 
acknowledgement email when you complete the consultation. 

4. Please provide information about the organisation/business you represent. 
 

Which of the following best describes you? 

(Please tick only one option. If multiple categories apply to you please choose 
the one which best describes you and which you are representing in your 
response.) (Required) 

 Business representative organisation/trade body 

 Product designer 

 Manufacturer 

 Distributor 

 Retailer 

 Waste Management Company 

 Local Authority 

 Reprocessor 

 Community group 

 Charity 

 Social enterprise 

 Independent consultancy 

 Academic or researcher 

 Individual 

 Other 

If you answered ‘Other’ above, please provide details: 
 

What is the name of the organisation/business you represent? (Required. If you 
are responding on behalf of yourself please write ‘individual’) 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 

 
What is the approximate number of staff in your organisation? (If applicable) 

35



2  

 

5. Please provide any further information about your organisation or business 

activities that you think might help us put your answers in context. 

(Optional) 

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) brings together the public bodies within 

Lincolnshire responsible for collection and disposal of waste, including: 

 Seven Waste Collection Authorities (WCA’s) – Boston Borough Council, City of 

Lincoln Council, East Lindsey District Council, North Kesteven District Council, South 

Holland District Council, South Kesteven District Council and West Lindsey District 

Council; and 

 One Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) – Lincolnshire County Council.   

 

6. Does your organisation have any recent experience of a DRS or related 

policy schemes? If so, can you please briefly explain your experiences? 

None 

7. Are you content for the UK government, or in Wales, the Welsh 

Government, or in Northern Ireland, DAERA to contact you again in relation 

to this consultation? 

               Yes 

 

Basic principles for a DRS 
 

8. Do you agree with the basic principles for a DRS? 
 

Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree  
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where there are principles you 
do not agree with, please outline them here. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

 

Proposed models for a DRS system 
 

9. Should the following materials be-in scope of a DRS: 

a. PET bottles 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, 
please share evidence to support your view. 

As many materials as possible which are easily recyclable 

36



3  

 
b. HDPE bottles 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, 
please share evidence to support your view. 

 
c. Aluminium cans 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, 
please share evidence to support your view. 

 
d. Steel cans 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, 
please share evidence to support your view. 

 
e. Glass bottles 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, 
please share evidence to support your view. 

 
f. Other (please specify) 

As many materials as possible which are easily recyclable 
 

10. Should the following materials be-in scope of a DRS: 

a. Cartons e.g. Tetrapack 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, 
please share evidence to support your view. 

Ensures that manufacturers and food and drink producers are required to consider packaging 
improvements that make them more recyclable.  EPR will hopefully also help with that. 

37



4  

 
b. Pouches and sachets, e.g. for energy gels 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, 
please share evidence to support your view. 

Ensures that manufacturers and food and drink producers are required to consider packaging 
improvements that make them more recyclable.  EPR will hopefully also help with that. 

 

11. If a DRS were to be introduced, should provisions be made so that glass 

bottles can be re-used for refills, rather than crushed and re-melted into 

new glass bottles? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please 
share evidence to support your view 

 

12. Should the following drinks be in-scope of a DRS: 
 

a. Water 
Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, 
please share evidence to support your view. 

Why not make the scope "all drinks bottles and drinks cans"?  That would be easier for the public 
to understand. 

 
b. Soft drinks (excluding juices) 
Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 
 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, 
please share evidence to support your view. 

Why not make the scope "all drinks bottles and drinks cans"?  That would be easier for the public 
to understand. 
 
  

38



5  

c. Juices (fruit and vegetable) 
Yes 

No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, 
please share evidence to support your view. 

Why not make the scope "all drinks bottles and drinks cans"?  That would be easier for the public 
to understand. 
 

d. Alcoholic drinks 
Yes (some) 
Yes (all) 

No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, 
please share evidence to support your view. 

Why not make the scope "all drinks bottles and drinks cans"?  That would be easier for the public 
to understand. 

 
e. Milk containing drinks 
Yes (some) 
Yes (all) 

No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, 
please share evidence to support your view. 

Why not make the scope "all drinks bottles and drinks cans"?  That would be easier for the public 
to understand. 

 
f. Plant-based drinks (such as soya, rich almond and oat drinks) 
Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, 
please share evidence to support your view. 

Why not make the scope "all drinks bottles and drinks cans"?  That would be easier for the public 
to understand. 
Whilst these products may be "essential", they should still be in the DRS scope as those who 
recycle would get their deposit money back anyway! 

 
  

39



6  

g. Milk 
Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, 
please share evidence to support your view. 

Why not make the scope "all drinks bottles and drinks cans"?  That would be easier for the public 
to understand. 
Whilst these products may be "essential", they should still be in the DRS scope as those who 
recycle would get their deposit money back anyway! 

 
h. Other (please state which): 

Why not make the scope "all drinks bottles and drinks cans"?  That would be easier for the public 
to understand. 

 

13. Do you think disposable cups should be in the scope of a DRS? 

a. Disposable cups made from paper with a plastic lining (such as those 
used for coffee) 

Yes  
No  
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 

b. Disposable cups made of plastic (such as those used in vending 
machines) 

Yes  
No  
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please 
share evidence to support your view. The government is particularly interested in 
any. 

These may need their own separate DRS rather than being included with bottles etc. 

 

14. Do you agree with the proposed material flows as described above? 

 
Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

 
  

40



7  

15. Do you agree with the proposed financial flows as described above? 
 

Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

We are slightly confused by the yellow dotted lines on the diagram on page 25.  Please explain these 
further. 

 

Overlap with the packaging producer responsibility system 
 

 

16. Should producers obligated under a DRS be: 

a. Exempt from obligations under the reformed packaging producer 
responsibility system for the same packaging items? 

b. Also obligated under the reformed packaging producer responsibility system 
for the same packaging items? 

c. Other (please explain) 
d. I don’t know/I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

It would appear that the DRS only circulates deposit money, whereas EPR funds collection & processing 

through other streams. 
However, if that is not the case, care needs to be taken to avoid double-charging for that collection and 
processing. 

 

17. If producers were obligated under both a DRS and a reformed packaging 

producer responsibility system for the same packaging items, how could we 

effectively ensure that they would not be unfairly disadvantaged by a ‘double 

charge’? 

 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

It would appear that the DRS only circulates deposit money, whereas EPR funds collection & processing 
through other streams. 
However, if that is not the case, care needs to be taken to avoid double-charging for that collection and 

processing. 

 

  

41



8  

Deposit Management Organisation (DMO) 

18. Do you agree that the DMO should be responsible for meeting high collection 

targets set by government? 

Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

Pro – DMO have a lot of powers and receive a lot of funding. 
Con - DMO would have limited control over this.  It should remain a government responsibility as they will 

set up and enforce the rules of the system. 
 

19. Should the DMO also be responsible for meeting high recycling targets set by 

government? 

Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

Pro – DMO have a lot of powers and receive a lot of funding. 

Con - DMO would have limited control over this.  It should remain a government responsibility as they will 
set up and enforce the rules of the system. 

 

20. Should unredeemed deposits be used to part-fund the costs of the DRS 

system? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

The scheme should be entirely funded by the producers. 

 

21. If unredeemed deposits are not used to part-fund the costs of the DRS 

system, do you agree they should be passed to government? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

This should not end up as an income stream for government. 

 

42



9  

22. Do you have alternative suggestions for where unredeemed deposits could 

be allocated? 

To fund local authority to maintain kerbside collections, treatment and processing 

infrastructure for those residents that do not participate in DRS. 
 

23. If the scheme is managed by the DMO, which of the following bodies should 

be represented on the management board: 

a. Industry (drinks producers)? 
b. Government 
c. Trade associations representing those hosting return points (e.g. retailers, 

small shops, transport hubs)? 
d. Companies representing those hosting return points (e.g. retailers, small 

shops, transport hubs)? 
e. Other (please specify) 
Waste trade organisations eg CIWM, ESA 
Environmental charities/organisations eg KBT/WWF/FoE 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

No Government as they simply set (and update?) the rules. 
Producers are key stakeholders. 

Umbrella bodies from across the waste industry have expertise which could be invaluable.  

 

24. Should there be government involvement in the set-up/running of the DMO 

body? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

They should be involved in the set-up but (as stated above) not in the running of the DMO. 

 

25. Do you agree with the government’s proposals that a DMO would: 

a. Advise government on the setting of the deposit level/s 
Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

This is dependent on the right make-up of the DMO Board. 
It needs to be evidence-based. 

 
  

43



10  

b. Set producer/importer fees 
Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

This is dependent on the right make-up of the DMO Board. 
It needs to be evidence-based. 

 
c. Be responsible for tracking deposits and financial flow in the DRS – and ensuring those 

running return points are paid the deposits they refund to consumers 
Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

 
d. Set and distribute the handling fees for return points 

Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

This needs to reflect the true costs, not be arbitrarily set.  Does this need shop involvement in the DMO? 

 

e. Be responsible for ensuring that there are appropriate return provisions for drinks 
containers in place, and that these are accessible? 
Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
f. Be responsible for maintenance of reverse vending machines (RVMs) and provision of 

bags/containers to those running manual return points 
Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

 
  

44



11  

g. Own the material returned by consumers 
Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

 
h. Reimburse those transporting returned drinks containers to recyclers/counting/sorting 

centres – and manage these contracts 
Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

 

i. Fund counting sorting/centres – and manage the contracts for counting/sorting centres 
Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

 
j. Be legally responsible for meeting the high collection targets set by government for 

drinks containers within scope of the DRS. 
Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 

I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

This would appear to be the same as Q18 – Or is there a difference we're missing? 

 Pro – DMO have a lot of powers and receive a lot of funding. 

 Con - DMO would have limited control over this.  It should remain a government responsibility as 

they will set up and enforce the rules of the system. 

 
k. Measure and report recycling rates to government 

Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

 

45



12  

l. Run communications campaigns to aid consumer understanding of the DRS 
Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

This is a critical consideration as the MUST BE sustainable and fully funded national communications campaigns at 
launch and on-going to maintain and improve participation. 

Communications need to address the issue of contamination. 

 
Producers 

26. Do you agree with our proposed definition of a producer? 
Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

We note the statement in the consultation document that you "would not propose the inclusion of those who 

manufacture the physical containers".  Could this exclusion resolve the issue of double-charging between 
DRS & EPR? 

 

27. Should there be a de minimis which must be crossed for producers and 

importers of drinks in-scope of a DRS to be obligated to join the scheme? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 
 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 
 

28. Should a de minimis be based on: 

a. Number of employees 
i. If yes, how many employees? 

b. Sales figures 
ii. If yes, what figure? 

c. Volume/weight of drinks put on the market 
iii. If yes, what volume/weight? 

d. None of these 
e. Other 

Number of eligible containers sold per annum. 

 

29. If there is a buy back scheme for recycled materials, do you have evidence for 

how this could be effectively run? 

 

46



13  

Set-up costs 

30. In line with the principle of full net cost recovery, the government proposes 

that producers would cover the set up costs of the DMO? Do you agree with 

this proposal? 
 

Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

Could be a substantial up-front cost, but who else would pay it but (indirectly) producers? 

 

31. Should the DMO be responsible for co-ordinating the set-up of the DRS, 

including buying RVMs and an IT system? 
 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

If they're meeting the costs, they should have the opportunity to minimise them.  However, there needs to 

be a detailed SLA specifying what they have to provide. 

 

Operational costs 

32. Should producers of drinks within a DRS be responsible for DRS operational 

costs? 
 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

  

47



14  

Retailers / return provisions 

33. Which of the following should be obligated to host a return point? 

a. Retailers who sell drinks containers in scope 
b. Transport hubs 
c. Leisure centres 
d. Event venues 
e. None of these 
f. Other (please specify) 
pubs, hotels, cafes – as per Q45 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

 

34. What might the impacts be on those hosting: 

(a) Reverse vending machines? Where available, please share evidence to support 
your view. 

 space (including storage of material) 

 electricity to power 

 emptying 

 requesting maintenance 

 additional footfall 

 Ability to collect in bulk 

 
(b) Manual return points? Where available, please share evidence to support your 
view. 

 

35. Are there any Health and Safety-specific implications that may be associated 

with hosting return points? 

 cabling of electricity supply 

 additional footfall – crowding 

 emptying machine & carrying material 

 Ability to collect in bulk 

 

36. Is there a de minimis level under which businesses who sell drinks in scope 

should be exempt? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

 

  

48



15  

37. Should a de minimis be based on: 
 

a. Floor size 

i. If yes, what floor size? 

c. Sales figures for drinks in scope 

ii. If yes, what figure? 

d. Number of employees 

iii. If yes, how many employees? 

e. None of these 

f. Other (please specify) 
 

38. Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please 

share evidence to support your view 

39. Do you have alternative suggestions for return provisions that could be used 

to accept the return of drinks containers? Please provide details. 
 

40. For consumers who would have difficulty returning empty drinks containers, 

what provisions could be put in place so that these consumers are able to 

return drinks containers and receive their deposit refund? 
 

41. What provisions could be put in place for rural areas where there may be few 

small retail outlets spread over a wider area, in order to ensure that there are 

adequate return and collection facilities? 
 

42. Do you have evidence that would help inform us about whether there is 

potential for siting RVMs outdoors e.g. in parks, at existing outdoor recycling 

centres, on highstreets? 
 

43. Should online retailers selling drinks in in-scope containers be obligated to 

pick up and refund DRS material? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where possible, please provide 
supporting information. 

 
  

49



16  

44. Should there be a de minimis under which online retailers would not be 

obligated to pick up and refund DRS material? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 

If yes, should a de minimis for online retailers be based on: 

a. Sales figures for drinks in scope 
b. Number of employees 
c. None of these 
d. Other (please specify) 

No view on how to measure, but this ties in with our view on other retailers (Q36). 

 

45. Should certain businesses which sell drinks in in-scope drinks containers 

host return points, e.g. pubs, hotels, cafes? Please provide details. 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

Wherever you're charged a deposit, you should be able to get it back. 

 

46. Should there be an opportunity for retailers that don’t stock drinks / those 

who may not be obligated to provide a return point to ‘opt-in’? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

These could provide support with return and collection facilities in rural areas 

 

47. Do you have any further views, comments or evidence in relation to retailers 

not already covered above? 
 

On-trade Sales 
should think we should consider. 

48. How should a DRS account for ‘on-trade’ sites such as bars and restaurants 

 

  

50



17  

The deposit 

49. What do you consider to be the optimum deposit level to incentivise return of 

drinks containers? 

 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 

evidence to support your view. 

50. Should the deposit level be a flat rate across all drinks containers covered by 

the DRS? 
 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

 
 

51. Should there be an alternative deposit level for drinks containers in a 

multipack, rather than each container carrying the same deposit? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

charge the same rate for each bottle, to avoid complexity. 
 

52. How do you think deposits should be redeemed? Please tick all that apply. 
 

a. Voucher (for deposit value, printed by the reverse vending machine or by the 
retail assistant at manual drop-off points) 

b. Digitally (for example a digital transfer to a smartphone application) 
c. Cash 
d. Return to debit card 
e. Option to donate deposit to charity 
f. Other (please state) 
g. None of the above 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

Look for evidence in countries where DRS are already operated to determine 
what works best. 

51



18  

 

Sending material on for recycling and data recording 

53. Should the DMO be responsible for ensuring that there is evidence that drinks 

containers have been recycled? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

54. In addition to reporting on collection rates, should the DMO also be obliged to 

report on recycling rates of in-scope drinks containers? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

 

 

Transparency 

55. How do you think transparent financial flows in a DRS could be achieved 

most effectively? 

 

Please explain you answer, providing evidence where available. 

 

 

Monitoring and enforcement 

The DMO 

56. Would Environment Agencies in England, Wales and Northern Ireland be best 

placed to monitor/enforce a DRS covering England, Wales and Northern 

Ireland? 

 

If no, why and is there another body that would be better suited to perform this function? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

Please explain your answer. 

52



19  

 

57. How frequently should the DMO be monitored? 

(This monitoring would look at, i.e., financial accounts, material flows, proof of recycling 
rates, setting of deposit level (if done by the DMO)) 

a. Annually 
b. Bi-annually 

- Other (please specify) 

 

58. How often should producers be checked for compliance with the DRS (if 

compliance is obligated)? 

a. Annually 
b. Bi-annually 

- Other (please specify) 

 

59. Should enforcement focus on: 

a. A sample of producers? 
b. All producers? 

 

60. Should any penalties (fines) on the DMO or producers/importers be set by the 

regulator appointed to monitor the DMO? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

 

 

Fraud 

61. Are there any points in the system which you think would be particularly 

susceptible to fraud? Please state 

 

62. Which labelling/markings on drinks containers in scope would best protect 

against fraud? 

 

Please select all that apply: 
a. Deposit value amount 
b. Marking indicating inclusion in DRS 
c. Existing product barcode (containing DRS information when scanned) 
d. Other (please specify) 
e. None of the above 

 
Please explain your answer. We are particularly interested in evidence of effective 
fraud prevention in existing DRS systems. 

 

53



20  

63. How could return via reverse vending machines (RVMs) best be protected 

against fraud? We are particularly interested in any evidence you may have to 

support suggestions. 

64. How could the process of manual returns best be protected against fraud? 

We are particularly interested in any evidence you may have to support 

suggestions. 

65. How could a DRS best protect against fraud across Devolved Administrations 

in the event of similar schemes with common underlying principles (but not 

one uniform scheme)? 
 

 

DRS Options – ‘all-in’ and ‘on-the-go’ 
 ‘All-in’ option 

66. Should drinks containers over a certain size, for example beer kegs and 

containers used for water coolers, be excluded from an all-in DRS? 
 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know/I don’t have enough information 

 
Please state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share evidence to 
support your view 
 

67. If drinks containers over a certain size were excluded from an all-in DRS, what 

should the maximum cut-off size be? 

> 3 Litres 
> 4 Litres 
> 5 Litres 
Other 
There should be no maximum size cut-off 

 

Please state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share evidence to 
support your view 

  

54



21  

‘On-the-go’ option 

68. Do you agree with our definition of ‘on-the-go’ as less than 750mls in size? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know/I don’t have enough information 

 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

Packaging manufacturers are likely to adjust packaging volumes to take them under 
the DRS mandatory scheme volumes. 
If limit is to be imposed, on the go should include up to 1 litre 
 

69. Do you agree with our definition of ‘on-the-go’ as excluding multipack 

containers? 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know/ I don’t have enough information 

 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response, including in which cases multipack 
containers should not be excluded from our definition of ‘on-the-go’. Where available, 
please share evidence to support your view 

 

70. Based on the information above, and where relevant with reference to the 

associated costs and benefits outlined in our impact assessment 

(summarised below), which is your preferred DRS option? 

All-in 
On-the-go 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share evidence to 
support your view 

Regardless of scope, litter is a key issue to be addressed through a DRS. 

 
 

Summary of approach to Impact Assessment 

71. Do you agree with our impact assessment? 

 
Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

55

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/introducing-a-deposit-return-scheme


22  

 

72. Do you think more data is needed? If yes, please state where. 
 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

 

73. Are there other costs and benefits which we have not covered in our impact 

assessment? 

 
74. Do you have further comments on our impact assessment? Please be 

specific. 

 
75. The dual objectives of a DRS are to reduce litter and increase recycling. Do 

you wish to suggest an alternative model that would be more effective at 

achieving these objectives? If so please briefly describe it, making reference 

to any available evidence 

 

76. A potential option for introducing a DRS could be to start with the ‘on-the-go’ 

model, and then expand/phase roll-out to ‘all-in’. Do you think this would be 

an effective way to introduce a DRS? 

Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view 

 
 

Outcomes of what we are hoping to achieve 
 

77. Do you think a DRS would help us to achieve these outcomes? Please briefly 

state the reasons for your response. Where possible, please share evidence 

to support your view: 
 

a. Reduction in litter and litter disamenity (include expected % decrease where 
possible) 

Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

56



23  

 
b. More recycling of drinks containers in scope of a DRS, especially those 

disposed of ‘on-the-go’ 
Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
c. Higher quality recycling 
Yes 
No 
Neither 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 

d. Greater domestic reprocessing capacity through providing a stable and high- 
quality supply of recyclable waste materials 

Yes 
No 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 

78. Do you think a DRS, as set out in this consultation, is necessary in helping us 

achieve the outcomes outlined above? 

Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

 

 

Alternative approaches 

79. Do you think the outcomes of what we are hoping to achieve could be 

reached through an alternative approach? 

 

Yes 
No 

 

I neither agree nor disagree 
Other (please state) 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please explain your answer, providing evidence where available. 

epr could meet these 
 
  

57



24  

80. Do you think an alternative approach would be a better way of achieving the 

outcomes? 

Yes 
No 
I neither agree nor disagree 
Other (please state) 

I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

Please explain your answer, providing evidence where available. 
 

Further detailed questions 

81. Are there particular local authority considerations that should be taken into 

account when considering whether to implement either an “all-in” or “on-the- 

go” model? 

DRS, particularly all-in, could: 

 reduce quality and quantity of recyclables in la stream 

 reduce la disposal income and thus increase costs 

 reduce overall la recycling performance 

 reduce collection quantity and cost 

 reduce littering 

much depends on how DRS interacts with EPR system 

 
82. Are there specific considerations associated with your local authority that 

DRS policy makers should consider? 

(Specific examples and any cost estimates, where applicable, would add value to this 
response). 

DRS, particularly all-in, could: 

 reduce quality and quantity of recyclables in la stream 

 reduce la disposal income and thus increase costs 

 reduce overall la recycling performance 

 reduce collection quantity and cost 

 reduce littering 

Much depends on how DRS interacts with EPR system 
 

83. What benefits and/or disadvantages can a DRS provide to your local 

authority? 

Specific examples and any cost estimates, where applicable, would add value to this 
response). 

 DRS, particularly all-in, could: 

 reduce quality and quantity of recyclables in la stream 

 reduce la disposal income and thus increase costs 

 reduce overall la recycling performance 

 reduce collection quantity and cost 

 reduce littering 

Much depends on how DRS interacts with EPR system 
Also, changes to composition & quantity of streams entering existing processing 
facilities 

58



25  

 

84. Are there any specific considerations associated with local authorities that 

collect waste from designated DRS return points that we should consider? 

(Specific examples and any cost estimates, where applicable, would add value to this 
response). 

 Need to differentiate between drs material drs other material collected on same round. 

 If this is expected of la’s, that needs to be clarified and fully funded. 

 Would la’s then be expected to dispose? 

 At what point (if any) does the material change from hh waste to commercial or vice 
versa? 

 Depending on how many and how successful they are, we could be looking at additional 
costs with round rerouting etc. 

 

Design of drinks containers 

85. How should a DRS drive better design of packaging? Please select all that 

apply: 
 

a. Varying producer fees that reflect the environmental cost of the products that 
producers are placing on the market 

b. An additional producer fee for producers using unnecessary and/or difficult to 
recycle packaging 

c. Other (please specify) 
d. None of the above 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

 

86. Who should be involved in informing and advising on the environmental cost 

of products? Select all that apply 
 

a. Government 
b. Reprocessors 
c. Producers 
d. Local Authorities 
e. Waste management companies 
f. Other (please specify) 

Environmental charities and University research. 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

 

  

59



26  

DRS and other waste legislation 

87. Do you agree or disagree with our assessment of other waste legislation that 

may need to be reviewed and amended? 

 

Agree 
Disagree 
Neither agree not disagree 
I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

 

88. Do you have evidence to suggest that we might need to revise any other 

waste-related regulations as part of introducing a DRS? Please specify. 
 

Further comments 

In addition to this consultation, we are also carrying out social research with the public and 
other analytical research to support our evidence base for decision making. 

89. Is there anything else we should be considering related to drinks container 

recycling and litter reduction which has not been covered by other 

questions? 
 

60



1  

Consultation on reforming the UK packaging 
producer responsibility system 
 

About you 
 

Q1. What is your name? 

Councillor EJ Poll 

Q2. What is your email address? 

This is optional, but if you enter your email address you will be able to return to edit 

your consultation response in Citizen Space at any time until you submit it. You will 

also receive an acknowledgement email when you complete the consultation. 

wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

Q3. Which best describes you? Please provide the name of the organisation/business 

you represent and an approximate size/number of staff (where applicable). 

(Please tick only one option. If multiple categories apply to you please choose the one 

which best describes you and which you are representing in your response.) (Required) 

 Business representative organisation/trade body 

 Packaging designer 

 Packaging manufacturer / converter 

 Product manufacturer / pack filler 

 Distributor 

 Retailer 

 Waste Management Company 

 Reprocessor 

 Local government 

 Community group 

 Non-governmental organisation 

 Charity or social enterprise 

 Consultancy 

 Academic or research 

 Individual 

 Other 

 If you answered ‘Other’ above, please provide details: 
 

Q4. Please provide any further information about your organisation or business activities 

that you think might help us put your answers in context. (Optional) 

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) brings together the public bodies within 
Lincolnshire responsible for collection and disposal of waste, including: 

 Seven Waste Collection Authorities (WCA’s) – Boston Borough Council, City of Lincoln 
Council, East Lindsey District Council, North Kesteven District Council, South Holland 

District Council, South Kesteven District Council and West Lindsey District Council; and 

 One Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) – Lincolnshire County Council.  

Q5. Would you like your response to be confidential? 

Yes / No 

If you answered ‘Yes’ above, please give your reason: 

61



2  

 

Our approach 

Principles 
 

Q6. Do you agree with the principles proposed for packaging EPR? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Specifically, if you respond No, 

please identify which principles you do not agree with and explain why. 

We agree in principle, but note that funding for local authorities may tie in with meeting "minimum service 
standards".  The exact contents of these standards will be crucial, particularly with regard to:  

 Allowing councils the freedom, in line with the localism agenda, to provide services in a way which is most 

appropriate for their area and giving the best service to their residents, and 

 Ensuring that the standards respond to the impacts arising from other policies – e.g. allowing for less 

frequent collections where food waste collections reduce residual waste. 

 

Outcomes - what we are hoping to achieve 
 

Q7. Do you agree with the outcomes that a packaging EPR should contribute to? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

If you answered No, please state which outcomes you do not agree with. 
 

Definition of packaging and packaging waste 
 

Q8. Do you think these types of items not currently legally considered as packaging 

should be in scope of the new packaging EPR system? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

Foil, cling film, jiffy bags, paper cups and sandwich bags are still packaging, and we still need to collect and 
process them, so they need to be included so that costs can be recovered. 
Can we include crisp packets as these often appear as contamination across Lincs districts? 
 

Types of packaging and sources of packaging waste 
 

Q9. Which of these two classifications best fits with how your business categorises 

packaging? 

(a) Primary, secondary, tertiary 

(b) Consumer-facing and distribution/transit 

(c) Neither – please say why, and provide a description of how your business 

categorises packaging 

 

62



3  

Part A: Packaging extended producer 
responsibility – key principles 

1. Full net cost recovery 
 

Q10. Do you agree with our definition of full net cost recovery? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No, it does not fulfil the Polluter Pays Principle 

(c) No, it goes beyond the Polluter Pays Principle 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

We don't feel we have sufficient information to say for certain at this stage whether or not 

everything has been included. 

 
Q11. Do you agree that producers should be required to fund the costs of collecting and 

managing household and household-like packaging waste, i.e. all consumer facing 

packaging? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I don’t know 

If No, please briefly state the reasons for your response and state what waste you think 

full net cost recovery should apply to. 

 
Q12. Do you agree that packaging for commercial/industrial applications should be out of 

scope for full net cost recovery? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I don’t know 

If No, please briefly state the reasons for your response. 

The scope should include these because, the wider the scope, the wider the potential impact in 

terms of behaviour change. 

 
Q13. We would welcome your views on whether or not producers subject to any DRS 

should also be obligated under a packaging EPR system for the same packaging 

items. 

(a) Yes they should 

(b) No they should not 

(c) I don’t know 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. 

Concerns have been raised about the possibility of double-charging of producers obligated 

under both systems.  However, this should not happen – Our understanding is that the DRS will 

not fund "full costs" but will simply circulate deposit money to change consumer behaviour.  

 

63



4  

2. Driving better design of packaging 
 

Q14. Do you agree with the development of an ‘approved list’ of recyclable packaging to 

underpin the setting of either modulated fee rates or deposits? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

It is vital that this 'approved list' supports and links to the 'core list' that is part of the 

'consistency' consultation. 

 
Q15. Do you think the payment of modulated fees or the payment of deposits with the 

prospect of losing some or all of the deposit would be more effective in changing 

producers’ choices towards the use of easy to recycle packaging? 

(a) Modulated fee 

(b) Deposit (for recyclable packaging) and fee (for non-recyclable packaging) 

(c) I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

We don't understand the two proposed models well enough to express a preference. 

 
Q16. Do you think there could be any unintended consequences in terms of packaging 

design and use arising from: 

(a) Modulated fees 

(b) Deposit (for recyclable packaging) and fee (for non-recyclable packaging) 

(c) I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

We don't understand the two proposed models well enough to express a preference. 

 
Q17. Do you agree that the deposit approach should be designed to incentivise more 

closed loop recycling? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

Regardless of which approach is used, 'closed loop' recycling is a good thing which should be 

promoted. 

 

64



5  

3. Obligated producers 
 

Q18. What do you consider to be the most appropriate approach to a single point of 

compliance, the Brand-owner or the Seller approach? 

(a) Brand-owner 

(b) Seller 

(c) Other 

(d) I don’t support moving to a single point of compliance 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

 
Q19. If a single point of compliance approach was adopted, do you think the de-minimis 

should be: 

(a) Replaced with a lower turnover threshold? 

(b) Retained and wholesalers and direct-to-retail sellers take on the obligation of those 

below the threshold? 

(c) Other, please state 

(d) Don’t know 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

 
Q20. Should small cafés and restaurants selling takeaway food and drinks whose 

packaging is disposed ‘on the go’ be exempt from being obligated? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) Don’t know 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

 

Q21. If shared responsibility is retained, is Option A or Option B preferable for including 

smaller businesses or the packaging they handle in the system? 

(a) Option A (Lower or remove the de-minimis) 

(b) Option B (De-minimis threshold remains as is and obligations extended to 

distributors of packaging or packaged products) 

(c) Other, please state 

(d) I don’t know 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

 
Q22. If you have stated a preference for A, do you think the de-minimis threshold should: 

(a) Be reduced (please state your suggested threshold) 

(b) Be removed entirely 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

65



6  

 
Q23. Overall, do you have a preference for maintaining a shared responsibility 

compliance approach, or moving to a single point of compliance? 

(a) Shared responsibility 

(b) Single point of compliance 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Q24. Do you have a preference for how small businesses could comply? 

(a) Pay a flat fee to include a contribution to a communications fund 

(b) Apply an allocation formula 

(c) Other, please describe 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Q25. Do you think that requiring operators of online marketplaces to take the legal 

responsibility for the packaging on products for which they facilitate the import would be 

effective in capturing more of the packaging that is brought into the UK through e- 

commerce sales? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) Other, please suggest options 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 
 

4. Supporting improved collections and 
infrastructure 

 

Q26. Do you agree payments to local authorities for collecting and managing household 

packaging waste should be based on: 

(a) provision of collection services that meet any minimum standard requirements 

(by nation); 

(b) quantity and quality of target packaging materials collected for recycling; 

(c) cost of managing household packaging waste in residual waste 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

 Minimum service standards (item a) are not needed provided 'quantity and quality of target 

packaging materials' are being successfully collected. 

 It is important to clarify how these categories relate to the collection requirements already 

imposed on local authorities under 'TEEP'. 

 
  

66



7  

Q27. Do you think we have considered all of the costs to local authorities of managing 

packaging waste? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

You also need to include any costs of sampling needed to establish the packaging content of 

each waste stream, particularly residual waste. 

 
Q28. Do you agree with our approach to making payments for the collection of 

household-like packaging waste for recycling? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

There is not enough clarity on how this is proposed to work – e.g. it says "this could…" rather 

than "this will…" 

 
Q29. Should businesses producing household-like packaging receive a payment for the 

costs of household-like packaging waste in residual waste? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

 

Q30. Are there other factors, including unintended consequences that should be 

considered in determining payments to: 

(a) Local authorities? Yes 

Please explain the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view 

 It would appear that payments will either be based on onerous and costly regular sampling, 

or on average figures which, even if accurate initially, will not remain so as circumstances 

change. 

 There needs to be greater clarity on how payments will be allocated/shared between Waste 

Collection Authorities and Waste Disposal Authorities in 2-tier areas. 

(b) For the collection and recycling of household-like packaging waste? 

Please explain the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

  

67



8  

Q31. Do you have any information that would help us to establish the costs incurred by 

local authorities and other organisations of cleaning up littered and fly-tipped packaging 

items? 

 We do have info on overall costs relating to clean-up of flytipping and littering, but not 

specifically for packaging.  Can Wastedataflow/Flycapture provide anything useful? 

 Will these costs be recalculated annually (retrospectively) or be based on 

estimates/averages? 

 However calculated, you need to ensure that these cover the full costs so that they can be 

appropriately passed through. 

 

Q32. How do you think producer fees could be used to improve the management of 

packaging waste generated on-the-go? 

 Provide funding for wider provision of separate litter bins for different materials. 

 Meet servicing costs, ideally the full costs rather than just a contribution. 

 

Q33. Do you have any information that would help us to establish the costs of collection 

and disposal of increased on-the-go provision? 

We don't have any information, but it would be helpful to have further clarification of what is 

considered to be 'on-the-go'.  It sounds like on-street bins, but you also mention litter – Does 

'on-the go' recycling include cleaned-up litter? 

 

Q34. Do you agree that provision for the take back of single-use disposable cups for 

recycling should continue to be developed a voluntary basis by business prior to a 

government decision on whether disposable cups are included under an EPR scheme 

or DRS? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Q35. Do you think the recycling of single-use disposable cups would be better managed 

through a DRS or EPR scheme? 

(a) DRS 

(b) EPR 

(c) Both 

(d) None of these options 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

EPR gives greater incentive to the producer to change how they do things. 

 

  

68



9  

Q36. Do you think a recycling target should be set for single-use disposable cups? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

A target is a good thing but care needs to be taken not to promote unintended consequences.  

Rather than a target (number or percentage) for cups recycled, reversing it to a maximum of 

cups disposed of (i.e. not recycled) of per drink sold would also incentivise the use of reusable 

cups. 

 

 

5. Helping consumers do the right thing – 
communications and labelling 

 

Q37. Should producer fees be used to support local service related communications 

delivered by local authorities? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 

evidence to support your view. 
 

Q38. Should producer fees be used to support nationally-led communications campaigns 

in each nation? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 

evidence to support your view. 
 

Q39. Are there any circumstances where producers should be exempt from contributing 

to the cost of communications campaigns? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 

evidence to support your view. 
 

  

69



10  

Q40. Do you agree it should be mandatory for producers to label their packaging as 

Recyclable/Not Recyclable? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 
 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

 These need to be carefully considered to ensure that they are both accurate and 

understandable to the public. 

 There needs to be a consistent approach linking this to the proposed national 'core list' for 

collections.  

 It is essential that the use of labels is supported by ongoing communications and education 

campaigns. 

 

Q41. Do you think that the percentage of recycled content should be stated on product 

packaging? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Q42. If you responded yes to the previous question, how could recycled content 

information be provided to consumers? 

Please describe briefly. 

 Simply state the percentage of recycled content. 

 Use a 'traffic light' colouring system if this can be done without causing confusion with the 

nutritional information. 

 
Q43. Do you have any other proposals for a labelling system? 

Please describe briefly. 

 
Q44. Do you have experience to suggest an appropriate lead-in time for businesses to 

incorporate any mandatory labelling requirements? 

70



11  

Part B: Packaging waste recycling targets 
 

6. Packaging waste recycling targets to 2030 
 

Q45. In your view, are the estimates made in the Material Flow reports for packaging 

waste arisings the best available data? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

Please briefly state the reasons for your responses and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Q46. Are you aware of any other factors which may affect the estimates of packaging 

waste entering the waste stream? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

Please briefly state the reasons for your responses and provide any information to 

support your view. 

 

Q47. In your view, are there other factors which may affect the amounts of obligated 

tonnage reported? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

Please briefly state the reasons for your responses and provide any information to 

support your view. 

 

Q48. Do you agree with the packaging waste recycling targets proposed for 2025? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your responses and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Q49. Do you agree with the packaging waste recycling targets proposed for 2030? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your responses and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Q50. Please provide your views on the policies and actions that could help us achieve an 

even higher overall packaging recycling rate, for example 75%, as well as your views 

on the costs associated with doing so. 

71



12  

 

Q51. Do you foresee any issues with obtaining and managing nation specific data? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) Don’t know 

Please briefly state the reasons for your responses and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Q52. Should a proportion of each material target be met by “closed loop” recycling, e.g. 

as is the case for glass recycling targets? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

Please briefly state the reasons for your responses and provide any information to 

support your view. 

'Closed loop' recycling is a good thing which should be promoted. 

Also, the definition of "closed loop" needs to put more emphasis on reuse. 

 

Q53. Should government set specific targets for individual formats of composite 

packaging? 

(d) Yes 

(e) No 

(f) I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

If yes, what key categories of composite packaging should be considered?  

Please briefly state the reasons for your responses and provide any information to 

support your view. 

 We would like to change behaviours and manufacturing to remove composite packaging 

altogether, possibly through an outright ban, or at least to ensure that any produced is easily 

separated for recycling. 

 Care needs to be taken to ensure that any target requires genuine recycling to ensure that 

there is no perverse incentive to continue to produce 'recyclable' composites which are less 

easy to recycling than alternative single-material packaging. 

 Another possibility may be to consider a tax on composite packaging to discourage it. 

 

Q54. Do you agree with the proposed interim targets for 2021 and 2022 set out in Table 

6? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your responses and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

  

72



13  

Q55. Do you agree with the proposal to increase the allocation method percentage to 

35% for 2021 and 2022? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your responses and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Part C: Governance arrangements 
 

7. Governance models 
 

Q56. Overall, which governance model for packaging EPR do you prefer? 

(a) Model 1 

(b) Model 2 

(c) Model 3 

(d) Model 4 

Please briefly explain your preference. 

There is insufficient information for us to form a view.  However, whichever model is chosen, it 

needs to be significantly different to the existing system of Packaging Recovery Notes which 

fails to pass costs through to local authorities which end up collecting and recycling/disposing of 

much of the packaging material. 

 

Q57. If you had to modify any of the models in any way to make them better suited to 

achieve the principles and outcomes government has set for packaging EPR what 

changes would you suggest? 

Whichever model is chosen, it needs to be significantly different to the existing system of 

Packaging Recovery Notes which fails to pass costs through to local authorities which end up 

collecting and recycling/disposing of much of the packaging material.  

 

Q58. Do you have any concerns about the feasibility of implementing any of the proposed 

governance models? 

a) Yes 

b) No 

c) If yes, please provide specific reasons and supporting information for each 

governance models that you have concerns about. 
 

Q59. Do you think that any of the governance models better enable a UK-wide approach 

to packaging producer responsibility to be maintained whilst respecting devolved 

responsibilities? 
 

  

73



14  

Q60. Stakeholders have suggested that a compliance fee mechanism similar to the 

arrangements currently in place under the WEEE producer responsibility scheme 

should be introduced if a competitive evidence market continues to operate such as in 

Model 1. Do you agree? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Q61. Should a Packaging Advisory Board be established to oversee the functioning of 

the EPR system and the compliance schemes in the competitive compliance scheme 

model 1 or do you think other arrangements should be put in place? 

(a) Packaging Advisory Board 

(b) Other – please provide details 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Q62. Please let us know your thoughts as to whether the proposed single management 

organisation should be established on a not-for-profit basis or as a government Arm’s 

Length Organisation. 

 

Q63. If such a management organisation is established as not-for-profit, one option is for 

government to invite proposals from potential operators and then issue a licence to 

operate for a defined period of time. Do you agree with this approach? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) If no, would you like to suggest an alternative approach? 

 
Q64. Should a single scheme be established for household/household-like packaging 

and C&I packaging as described for model 2? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I don’t know / I don’t have enough information 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

 
Q65. Or, should there be a separate system for managing compliance for 

household/household-like packaging and C&I packaging as described for model 3? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) If yes: could model 3 work as described? Or would additional mechanisms be 

required to make this approach work effectively, please indicate what these might be? 

(d) If no: do you have suggestions on an alternative approach? 

 
  

74



15  

Q66. Under model 4 are producers more likely to? 

(a) Manage their own compliance? 

(b) Join a compliance scheme? 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

 

 

8. Responsible management of packaging 
waste domestically and globally 

 
 

Q67. Do you agree that government should seek to ensure export of packaging waste is 

undertaken in a transparent and environmentally responsible manner? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

 
Q68. Do you agree that measures identified here would help ensure the export of 

packaging waste is undertaken in a transparent and environmentally responsible 

manner? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

 
Q69. Have we missed potential measures that you believe need to be considered 

alongside those measures we have proposed? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) If yes, please explain which potential measures should be considered. 

 
Q70. Do you have any concerns about the feasibility and / or costs of implementing any 

of the proposed measures? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) If yes, please provide specific reasons and supporting information for each measure 

that you have concerns about. 

75



16  

9. A more transparent system 
 

Q71. Do you agree that accredited reprocessors and exporters should be required to 

report their financial information? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. If you answered no, how would you suggest transparency is 

provided on how income from the sale of evidence has been used to support capacity 

building? 
 

Q72. Should accredited reprocessors and exporters be required to generate evidence for 

every tonne of packaging waste that they process? 

a) Yes 

b) No 

c) I don’t know 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Q73. Should accredited reprocessors and exporters be required to report on the 

packaging waste they handle monthly? 

a) Yes 

b) No 
 

Q74. Do you think that any additional measures to those already described would be 

required to ensure transparent operating of the evidence market in model 4? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I don’t know 

If yes, please provide details 
 

Q75. Are there any additional requirements that should be placed on compliance 

schemes to ensure greater transparency of their operations and reporting? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I don’t know 

If Yes, please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information 

to support your view. 

 

Q76. Under a reformed system do you think compliance schemes should continue to be 

approved by the existing regulators or do you think a different approach is required? 

(a) Yes, approved as now 

(b) Other, please explain 

 

76



17  

Q77. Are there any additional requirements of a single producer organisation to ensure 

transparency of its operation and reporting? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I don’t know 

If yes, please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Q78. Do you think there is a need to make more information on packaging available to 

consumers? 

a) Yes 

b) No 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

It will give consumers a better understanding of what we want them to do and why. 

 

 

10. Compliance monitoring and enforcement 
 

Q79. Are there other datasets that will be required in order to monitor producers in any of 

the proposed models? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

If yes please explain which datasets will be needed. 
 

Q80. Is there a specific material, packaging type or industry sector whereby producing 

accurate data is an issue? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

If yes, please provide further information on where producing accurate data may be an 

issue. 
 

Q81. Do you think a single database, as opposed to the current range of methodologies 

available, would be an effective alternative? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

  

77



18  

Q82. Do you agree that compliance schemes (models 1 and 3), the producer 

management organisation (model 2) or the scheme administrator (model 4) should be 

responsible for carrying out audits of producers, which should be reportable to the 

regulators? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Q83. Do you support the broadening of legally enforceable notices to obtain required 

information? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Q84. Are there other enforcement mechanisms that should be considered which would 

be timely and effective to bring producers into compliance, for example in relation to 

free riders? 

a) Yes 

b) No 

If yes, please explain which other enforcement mechanisms should be considered. 
 

Q85. Are there any further data that should be required to be collated / collected via 

compliance schemes or a single management organisation? 

Please provide brief details. 
 

Q86. Do you think a penalty charge, as described, is the correct lever to ensure 

packaging recycling targets are met? 

a) Yes 

b) No 

c) I don’t know 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

Q87. Should stakeholders other than reprocessors or exporters be able to issue evidence 

of recycling? 

a) Yes 

b) No 

c) I don’t know 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 
 

  

78



19  

Q88. Are there any additional enforcement powers that should be applied to waste 

sorters, MRFs and transfer stations handling packaging waste? 

a) Yes 

b) No 

If yes, please explain which other enforcement powers should be available. 

 It is difficult to enforce against MRFs who are doing sampling as the code of practice is 

on set frequency and quantity, and there is no guidance on how or on what should be 

looked at.  Better guidance and enforcement would level the playing field between 

providers. 

 Would it be more helpful to use output based monitoring instead of input? At the MRF 

ELDC used to take its recycling to, everything was weighed at the end of the process so 

data was accurate. 

 

Q89. Do you agree with the proposed amendments to enforcement powers relating to 

reprocessors and exporters? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

(c) I neither agree nor disagree 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

 
Q90. Do you have any evidence to indicate that under any of the proposed governance 

models the likelihood of waste packaging being imported and claimed as UK packaging 

waste might increase? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

If yes, please provide information on any evidence you have. 
 

Q91. Is the current requirement for a sampling and inspection plan and subsequent 

auditing by the regulator sufficient to address any misclassification of imported 

packaging waste? 

(a) Yes 

(b) No 

Please briefly state the reasons for your response and provide any information to 

support your view. 

The requirement is sufficient but needs to be properly established and regulated. 

 

Q92. Are there other mechanisms that could be considered that would prevent imported 

UK packaging waste being claimed as UK packaging waste under the proposed 

governance models? 

a) Yes 

b) No 

c) If yes, please explain which other mechanisms could prevent imported packaging 

waste being claimed as UK packaging waste. 

  

79



20  

11. Estimated costs and benefits 
 

Q93. Do you have any additional data or information that will help us to further assess the 

costs and benefits (monetised or non-monetised) that these reforms will have? 

 
Q94. Do you have further comments on the associated Impact Assessment, including the 

evidence, data and assumptions used? Please be specific. 

 

12. How will we know when we’ve been 
successful? 

 

Q95. If you have any other views or evidence that you think we should be considering 

when reforming the packaging waste regulations, which you have not yet shared, 

please add them here. 

 The objective of the whole EPR approach seems to have been switched from 

better/less/easily recyclable/user-friendly packaging to who pays, who administers and 

who benefits. It's almost like packaging (the real issue) is secondary to those details.  

 Communication has a key part to play in the success of this, and an approach should be 

adopted where incorrect or misleading information is not tolerated. 

 

 

80



1 
 

 

 
 

 

Plastic packaging tax: 
consultation 

 

 

 
 

Chapter 2 

About you 
 

 

1 What is your name? 

Councillor EJ Poll 

2 What is your email address? 

wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

3 Which best describes you? Please provide the name of the 

organisation/business you represent and an approximate size/number of 

staff (where applicable). 

(Please tick only one option. If multiple categories apply to you, please 

choose the one which best describes you and which you are representing 

in your response.) 

 Business representative organisation/trade body 

 Packaging designer 

 Packaging manufacturer / converter 

 Product manufacturer / pack filler 

 Distributor 

 Retailer 

 Waste Management Company 

 Reprocessor 

 Local government 

 Community group 

 Non-governmental organisation 

81



 Charity or social enterprise 

 Consultancy 

 Academic or research 

 Individual 

 Other 

 If you answered ‘Other’ above, please provide  details 

4 Please provide any further information about your organisation or business 

activities that you think might help us put your answers in context. 

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) brings together the public bodies within Lincolnshire 
responsible for collection and disposal of waste, including: 

 Seven Waste Collection Authorities (WCA’s) – Boston Borough Council, City of Lincoln 
Council, East Lindsey District Council, North Kesteven District Council, South Holland 
District Council, South Kesteven District Council and West Lindsey District Council; and 

 One Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) – Lincolnshire County Council. 

5 Would you like your response to be confidential? Why? 

No 

 
 

Chapter 3 

Plastic packaging within scope of 
the tax 

6 Do you agree with the government’s suggested approach to defining 

plastic in scope of the tax? 

7 Do you agree with the government’s suggested approach to defining 

packaging and packaging materials in scope of the tax?  

Agree 

8 Is the government’s approach to components of plastic packaging 

consistent with the way businesses operate and packaging is created? 

9 Which of the above options for defining plastic packaging for composite 

material items do you think works better for the purposes of the tax? 

10 Do you think alignment with the reformed Packaging Producer 

Responsibility regulations is important for the purposes of the tax? 

Yes – Different aspects of policy need to be harmonised as much as possible.  

 

 

  

82



3 
 

Chapter 4 

Driving recycled content 
11 Do you agree with the government’s suggested approach to  defining 

recycled content for the purposes of the tax? 

12 Are there any environmental or technical reasons to consider excluding any 

particular ways of recycling plastic? 

13 Is there any way that the proposed approach to defining recycled content 

could encourage unintended consequences, such as wasteful 

manufacturing processes? 

14 Do you agree with the government’s preferred approach of a single 

threshold, and why? If not, what alternative would be better, and what are 

the risks associated with this? Please explain your answer and provide any 

supporting information and evidence. 

No.  A single threshold has two unintended consequences: 

1. Those already better than threshold – No incentive to do any better.  May even 

encourage them to see the threshold as a target, thus reducing recycled content to 

that level. 

2. Those considerably worse than threshold (e.g. zero recycled content) – No incentive to 

make small gains.  If no intermediate threshold exists, they may choose zero content 

rather than working towards the threshold for no immediate tax benefit. 

 

Possibly consider an outright ban on importing packaging with less than 30% recycled 

content. 

15 Assuming a single threshold, do you agree with a 30% threshold for 

recycled content and why? 

16 Are there any products for which it would be very challenging to increase 

the level of recycled content, and why? If so, please outline the effect of a 

tax on production decisions and consumption of these items. 

17 Are there any products for which the use of recycled plastic is directly 

prohibited in packaging? If yes, please provide details on these products 

stating the relevant legislation and industry standards as well as the effect 

of a tax on production decisions and consumption of these items. 

18 What evidence is currently held by liable manufacturers and importers on 

the levels of recycled content in their plastic packaging and how it might 

be able to meet the requirements of identifying recycled content levels? 

19 If you are an importer of unfilled plastic packaging or plastic packaging 

material, what information do you hold on the recycled content? What 

controls or assurance do you have over the accuracy of this information? 

How might you influence the level of recycled plastic content? 

  
83



Chapter 5 

Setting the tax rate 
20 Do you agree with the government’s suggested approach of setting a flat  

rate per tonne of a plastic packaging product? Why?  

No.  If it were instead per tonne of non-recycled content, that would incentivise better 
performance – See answer to Question 14. 

 

 

Chapter 6 

Liability for the tax 
Questions 

21 Do you agree with the proposed points at which domestic or imported 

products would be liable for the tax? If not, at what point in the supply 

chain do you think the tax point should be and why? 

22 Are there any situations where the proposed tax points would be 

administratively, practically or legally difficult? Please explain any adaptions 

that might be necessary. 

23 If you are a business that produces or imports plastic packaging, how 

much of your yearly production, in tonnes, would you expect to be liable 

for the tax? 

24 Do you provide (manufacture or import) plastic material which could be 

used as packaging without knowing the final use of the product? Is this a 

common occurrence? 

25 Would you support extending joint and several liability for UK production, 

and for imports? 

26 Please outline any issues in relation to routine wastage or spillage that may 

have an impact on the tax liability. 

27 Do you agree with the government’s initial proposal that the tax at import 

should only apply to unfilled packaging? If not, what would the effects be? 

What alternative would you prefer and how would it work?  

 

 

  

84



5 
 

Chapter 7 

Treatment of exports 
28 Do you agree with the government’s suggested approach for  crediting 

exports? 

29 Do you foresee any difficulties in providing appropriate records to 

demonstrate that packaging has been exported? 

 

 

Chapter 8 

Excluding small operators 
30 Do you agree that the government should seek to exclude small operators? 

If yes, what would the risks be if the government didn’t do this? 

31 Would Option 1a, Option 1b or Option 2 best meet the government’s 

objective of excluding small operators from the tax whilst ensuring the tax 

has a strong environmental rationale? 

32 What factors should the government consider when setting a threshold 

(either on volume or turnover) or a relief? Do you have any suggestions for 

appropriate levels? If so, please provide an explanation for why you believe 

this is appropriate. 

33 Would having a de minimis create any significant risks to the effectiveness 

of the tax at import (including, but not limited to, treatment of multiple 

imports from the same exporter/manufacturer/brand owner)? If yes, please 

provide evidence and suggest any additional legislative or operational 

countermeasures. 

34 Do you anticipate any risks or issues that would arise from introducing a de 

minimis that aren’t explored above? Please provide details. 

 

 

Chapter 9 

Registration and reporting 
 

35 Do you agree that the registration and reporting requirements outlined are 

appropriate? If not, please specify why. 

36 Please provide details of the estimated one-off costs for registering with 

HMRC. 

85



37 Please provide details of the expected one-off and on-going costs of 

completing, filing, and paying the return. 

 

 

Chapter 10 

Ensuring compliance 
38 Is the government’s suggested approach to compliance proportionate and 

appropriate? If not, please outline any scenarios that you anticipate may 

require bespoke compliance powers or penalties? 

39 Are our anti-abuse proposals sufficient to tackle the risk of fragmentation 

(abuse of the de minimis or universal relief) from UK based plastic 

producers? 

40 Is our approach regarding assuring the accuracy of declared recycled 

content appropriate? If not, please share any other suggestions you may 

have. 

41 Do respondents believe that using UK based agents for non-established 

taxable persons may help support compliance? 

42 Are there any further compliance risks that have not been addressed in this 

chapter, please provide details? 

 

 

Chapter 11 

Understanding commercial practices 
43 If you are a business, what is your annual turnover? 

44 Are you currently obligated under the Packaging Producer Responsibility 

system? 

45 If you manufacture or handle plastic packaging, which sector(s) do you 

provide it to? 

46 If you manufacture or handle plastic packaging, can you please provide an 

overview of the types of plastic packaging products as well as the tonnages 

and the levels of recycled content in each? Do you expect this to change 

over the next 5 years? 

47 If you manufacture or handle plastic packaging, how much of this 

packaging is produced domestically, exported and/or imported? 

48 If you process or handle recycled plastic, do you export or import any?  If 

so, how much, and where from/to? 

86



7 
 

49 If you manufacture plastic packaging, can you please provide an overview 

of the prices of some of your plastic packaging products. Can you also 

provide information on how these costs break down according by material 

costs, labour costs, other operating costs and profit? 

50 If you manufacture or handle plastic packaging, can you please describe 

how plastic packaging prices fluctuate? How much do prices vary, and 

what are the main causes, e.g. fluctuations in exchange rate, oil and other 

commodity prices, etc.? 

51 If you manufacture or handle plastic packaging, how long does it take you 

(in months) to increase the recycled content of your product? What factors 

are important in determining this length of time? 

52 If you manufacture or handle plastic packaging, would the tax incentivise 

you to speed up any current plans to increase recycled content? To what 

extent? How quickly? 

53 If you manage waste, how long would it take you to set up the systems 

required to supply more plastic waste for recycling/recycle more plastic? 

How much could you produce? 

54 If you manufacture plastic packaging, how would the tax affect the  

amount and price of product you produce? In cases where you weren’t 

able to increase recycled content, would you pass the price of the tax  down 

the supply chain? 

55 Is there anything else you would like us to note about how your business 

operates and how you think it would be impacted by the tax? 

 

Chapter 12 

Assessment of other impacts 
56 Unless already covered in your responses to other questions within this 

document, is there anything else you would like us to note about the 

impact of the tax, especially any potentially adverse impacts on groups with 

protected characteristics? 

 Need to guarantee that Local Authorities (who pay for collection and disposal of plastic 

packaging) will receive at least some of the funds raised by the tax. 

 Any funds retained by government should be ring-fenced for waste-related activities. 

 

Also, please consider how to address the use of tape and filling (with zero recycled 

content, and non-recyclable) with cardboard packaging – e.g. by Amazon.  In particular, 

what measures can be taken where: 

o A cardboard box with 30% recycled content has so much tape and filling added that 

the overall recycled content is much <30%. 

o A recyclable cardboard box is rendered non-recyclable by the addition of a large 

quantity of tape – Unless great care is taken to remove all the tape before binning.  

 

87



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Action Notes from the meeting held on 12 March 2019 and Updates from previous meeting
	6 Resources and Waste Strategy Consultations
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2 - LWP 1 Defra - Consistency - LWP RESPONSE v4 - FINAL
	Appendix 2 - LWP 2 Defra - Deposit Return Scheme - LWP RESPONSE v3 - FINAL
	Appendix 2 - LWP 3 Defra - Producer Responsibility - LWP RESPONSE v3 - FINAL
	Appendix 2 - LWP 4 HM Treasury - Plastic Tax - LWP RESPONSE v3 - FINAL


